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          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: The Committee on

          3  Fire and Criminal Justice Services, please come to

          4  order.

          5                 Today is the testimony by the

          6  Departments on the MMR, the Mayor's Management

          7  Report, and today we are joined by my colleague from

          8  Brooklyn, Council Member Victor Robles, who also

          9  chairs the Health Committee.

         10                 Good afternoon, Commissioner.

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Good

         12  afternoon. I have a prepared statement and I will

         13  read it.

         14                 The Mayor's Management report

         15  provides the agency and public with performance and

         16  statistical measurements to monitor our progress in

         17  achieving goals and objectives.

         18                 Before taking your questions on the

         19  Fiscal Year 1999 Mayor's Management Report, I would

         20  like to take this opportunity to summarize and

         21  update key initiatives discussed in the report.

         22                 In March of 1996, the Fire

         23  Department's mission was expanded to include the

         24  Emergency Medical Service in an effort to improve

         25  both the quality of medical care and timely
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          2  efficient medical response.

          3                 In Fiscal '98, the Department reached

          4  the milestone of an average ambulance response time

          5  to life-threatening medical emergencies below eight

          6  minutes for the first time in the history of EMS.

          7  That response time was seven minutes and 54 seconds.

          8                 In Fiscal '99, average ambulance

          9  response time to life-threatening emergencies was

         10  further reduced to seven minutes and 35 seconds.

         11  This improvement between fiscal '98 and fiscal '99

         12  is significant considering only two additional EMS

         13  tours were added in Fiscal '99. EMS units and fire

         14  units together responded to a total of 1,034,506

         15  emergency medical incidents. The contribution of

         16  fire units is seen in the combined average response

         17  time for both fire and EMS units of six minutes and

         18  31 seconds, which saves one minute and four seconds

         19  to critical emergencies, such as cardiac arrest.

         20                 In the new initiative designed to

         21  enhance the aid we administered, the considerable

         22  population of asthma sufferers in this City, all our

         23  EMTs were trained to administer Albuterol, an asthma

         24  drug previously only administered by paramedics.

         25                 For the period December '98 when the
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          2  project was initiated, to August '99, EMTs have

          3  administered the treatment to approximately 3,400

          4  asthma patients Citywide.

          5                 The Department also made significant

          6  progress in meeting its commitment to develop

          7  community-based ambulance stations, enabling units

          8  to be deployed throughout the City with maximum

          9  efficiency. The Department is proceeding with the

         10  construction of new ambulance stations throughout

         11  the City. Thus far, the Department has opened seven

         12  permanent stations in various areas of the City, in

         13  addition to the 16 stations that existed premerger.

         14                 The new station at Woodhull Hospital

         15  and Brooklyn replacing the old one was opened in

         16  August '99.

         17                 In spring '99, the construction on a

         18  new station in the Kingsbridge section of the Bronx,

         19  and a replacement station at Harlem Hospital.

         20                 Land Use review has been completed

         21  for four stations, three in Brooklyn, Greenpoint,

         22  Brooklyn Heights, and Kings County Hospital. One in

         23  Springfield Gardens Queens.

         24                 Four projects are undergoing Land Use

         25  review and six projects have sites that still have
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          2  to be determined. There will be a total of 38

          3  ambulance stations upon completion of this

          4  construction program.

          5                 The Fire Department continues to

          6  monitor its response time to fires and other

          7  emergencies. During Fiscal Year '99, response times

          8  to structural fires was below five minutes in all

          9  five boroughs. While structural fires increase by

         10  one percent from Fiscal Year '98. Average Citywide

         11  response time to all emergencies decreased by nine

         12  seconds, from four minutes and 57 seconds in Fiscal

         13  '98 to four minutes and 48 seconds in Fiscal '99.

         14                 There were 447,148 emergencies

         15  responded to by fire units in Fiscal '99. Down from

         16  451,022, a decrease of one percent from Fiscal '98.

         17  Other major initiatives have resulted in increased

         18  safety to the public, and to the firefighting force.

         19  Civilian fire fatalities decreased from 118 in

         20  Fiscal '98 to 114 in Fiscal '99. In fact, there has

         21  been a 58 percent decrease in fire-related deaths

         22  since Fiscal 1990. The safety of our firefighters

         23  has also been a priority of the Department and the

         24  Mayor. Burns to firefighters have decreased by 68

         25  percent in Fiscal '99 compared to Fiscal '94. The

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  decrease is due to bunker gear, protective hoods,

          3  continuous evaluation of safety equipment and

          4  increased training. Our enhanced training curriculum

          5  includes a night tactical program, which simulates

          6  nighttime firefighting conditions. Part of this

          7  tactical training is hands-on experience in roof

          8  ventilation. Specialized instruction and

          9  preparedness for HAZMAT and terrorist incidents is

         10  ongoing.

         11                 As new information and equipment

         12  becomes available we work closely with the Mayor's

         13  Office of Emergency Management to ensure it is

         14  disseminated to the field as soon as possible.

         15                 Search rope instruction at the

         16  Brooklyn Navy Yard is another tactical addition to

         17  our training efforts.

         18                 Newly promoted battalion chiefs also

         19  participate in a mentoring program where they serve

         20  side by side with experienced chiefs in the field

         21  for at least six months before they are assigned to

         22  a particular area.

         23                 This allow the new chiefs to directly

         24  participate in command decisions at a variety of

         25  fire scenes in order to gain exposure and
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          2  experience.

          3                 In addition, all battalions are

          4  participating in computerized fire simulation

          5  training. Laptop exercises have been designed to

          6  simulate varied building configurations and fire

          7  scenarios. Battalion chiefs come together to

          8  exchange ideas and strategies in an effort to

          9  enhance communications and experience.

         10                 In keeping with the Department's

         11  commitment to improve fire safety education, during

         12  Fiscal Year '99, 3,917 fire safety presentations

         13  were given, an increase of 53 percent over Fiscal

         14  '98.

         15                 These presentations centered on the

         16  use of smoke detectors, fire safety hazard

         17  identification and correction, home fire escape

         18  planning and fire safety for seniors.

         19                 In addition, the Department assembled

         20  a task force of fire officers and conducted a

         21  high-rise public safety outreach program aimed at

         22  heightening awareness of fire prevention and

         23  evacuation techniques.

         24                 They conducted 257 presentations to

         25  building owners, management staff and tenants. In
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          2  addition, we distributed hundreds of thousands of

          3  high-rise fire safety pamphlets with the help of the

          4  Real Estate Board and Managers Association.

          5                 We continue to tour the City with two

          6  mobile fire safety houses to educate school children

          7  and community groups in how to prevent fires.

          8                 During Fiscal '99 a total of 50,000

          9  smoke detectors and batteries were distributed to

         10  seniors in high fire fatality communities,

         11  ultimately successful fire prevention programs are

         12  the best tool we have to ensure the safety of

         13  citizens and firefighters.

         14                 In the area of Y2K compliance, the

         15  Department has achieved an overall 95 percent

         16  compliance rate. However, all our mission critical

         17  systems are 100 percent compliant. The other five

         18  percent is comprised of back-office type

         19  administrative systems that will be fully remediated

         20  and tested in the coming weeks.

         21                 The Department is proud of our

         22  accomplishments to date, and we look to improve upon

         23  our performance in the months ahead.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very
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          2  much. Before we entertain the questions, I would

          3  like to acknowledge the presence of my colleague

          4  from the Bronx, Council Member Madeline Provenzano,

          5  a member of the Committee, and Council Member Angel

          6  Rodriguez from the Borough of Brooklyn. Welcome.

          7                 Well, first, Commissioner, thank you

          8  for your report, and let me commend you for the work

          9  that your Department is doing.

         10                 I just have a couple of questions

         11  related to your report and some other indications.

         12                 In terms of response times concerning

         13  the CFR-D, limitations still exist when attempts are

         14  made to evaluate its actual performance.

         15                 For example, while we know what the

         16  response time is, we have no way of knowing how many

         17  runs were initiated, but not completed.

         18                 For example, an engine company may

         19  have been dispatched but called off because an

         20  ambulance has already arrived at the scene.

         21                 The MMR states that there were

         22  approximately 163,917 medical emergency runs in

         23  Fiscal Year '99. Does this number represent the

         24  total number dispatched or the total number

         25  completed?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That is the

          3  total number completed.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Well, do you have

          5  any way of surmizing the number of units that were

          6  dispatched so we can make a comparison?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: (Not

          8  identified for the record.) Of the $160,000

          9  approximately 50 percent of that number is where

         10  CFR-D actually responds and provides medical care.

         11  In other instances, either it turns out to be a

         12  false alarm or an ambulance has arrived on the scene

         13  and relieved them of the responsibilities for that

         14  call.

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Council

         16  Member, are you looking for the number of calls that

         17  the Fire House receives and then doesn't even begin

         18  to respond to? Because they understand that an

         19  ambulance has already been --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Right. So that we

         21  have a sense of knowing the parameters.

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That is

         23  inside that 163,000. We can give you those numbers.

         24  If it is not there, we can give it to you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: One of the areas
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          2  that I am concerned with, and I am just really

          3  looking for your guidance, an explanation, what have

          4  you, it seems like your goal, and this is my

          5  opinion, in terms of response time, will never

          6  realistically be met because you don't have a

          7  sufficient number of tours, and I don't think you

          8  will be able to ever get sufficient number of tours,

          9  even dealing with the private service, unless the

         10  City makes a commitment to really bring on

         11  additional personnel and additional buses. What is

         12  your feeling on that?

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, I have

         14  always believed that the promise in the MOU was not

         15  possible to be achieved. You know, the 90 percent

         16  and all of those numbers.

         17                 I think that we are doing a good job

         18  of raising all of those, getting closer to it. As we

         19  get more stations on the street in service, I think

         20  that is going to make a difference, as we do a

         21  better job of utilizing people, I think that will

         22  make a difference. As we do a better job of working

         23  on some of the problems we have with medic leave and

         24  light duty and some of the issues that pull

         25  ambulances off the street, I think that will make a
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          2  difference. And we are working towards -- and as we

          3  accomplish an automatic vehicle locating system,

          4  which is still a couple of years away for us because

          5  of all of our issues with Starfire and everything

          6  else, we think that will make a difference.

          7                 So, even though those numbers might

          8  have been too grandiose or too positive to achieve,

          9  I think that we are working towards them and what

         10  the final result is going to be, we don't know. What

         11  the final number will be, what the final objective,

         12  you know, we should have now, I don't think we

         13  should leave that as our goal and keep working

         14  towards it, but I don't think it was a realistic

         15  goal to begin with.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: That was my

         17  feeling, and other than a huge investment in terms

         18  of manpower and equipment, as much as you do, and I

         19  have to say that you are doing a good job in that

         20  area, will never reach that particular mandate.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We agree that

         22  the key is to get more tours on the street. Where we

         23  might disagree is whether or not we should, which is

         24  the objective of some of the union folks, to higher

         25  more people and just put more ambulances on the
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          2  street that way. We think there are other ways to do

          3  that and that is the avenue we are trying to do.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: One more

          5  question. In responding to segment 1-3 medical

          6  emergencies, EMS arrived within six minutes, only 40

          7  percent of the time, and while the coordination of

          8  the CFR-D with EMS resulted in 16 percent gain to 56

          9  percent, this bill falls short of the goal of the 90

         10  percent.

         11                 The indicators in the MMR show clear

         12  improvement in response time over the last several

         13  years, since EMS was merged into the department, but

         14  the improved response times are beginning to kind of

         15  level off. What are the Department's intentions in

         16  deploying more EMS ambulances over the next several

         17  years? And if you can be specific.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:  A

         19  lot of that has to do with the completion of the

         20  stations to make the ambulances more available in

         21  the communities that they serve.

         22                 We have shown that with the stations

         23  the travel time and the return time to service is

         24  reduced, which increases the availability of the

         25  ambulance.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Well, that was

          3  three years, we were building up to that point. That

          4  time lag has already finished, but where are we

          5  going forward respectively?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

          7  Well, part of the is the completion of the ambulance

          8  stations.

          9                 In one case last year we upgraded the

         10  number of BLS units to ALS units, which helped a

         11  little bit. We intend to increase and keep going in

         12  that direction to reduce that response time.

         13                 In one case it goes back to the

         14  definition that was laid out in the MOU, the

         15  critical emergencies for ALS, we have a better track

         16  record with respect to ALS, ambulances that respond

         17  to ALS calls, and not just all of the calls in

         18  segments 1, 2 and 3.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: You say that a

         20  lot of it is depending upon the completion of the

         21  ambulance station; what is your projection

         22  internally as to say in the next three years how

         23  many ambulance tours do you expect to put on the

         24  street?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: We

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  don't intend to increase the ambulance tours at this

          3  point, but keep the ambulance tours in the

          4  neighborhood by completing the stations. We expect

          5  to have three or four stations open in the coming

          6  year, and a projection for the others will follow

          7  with respect to property acquisition and things like

          8  that. Within three years we will have a better idea

          9  of the exact effect of all of the stations.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: But you haven't

         11  come down to a goal in terms of how many we will

         12  expect in the next three, four years?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: We

         14  should have at least 28 open by the end of the year.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: By the end of

         16  this year?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: Yes.

         18  By the end of the year.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: By the end of

         20  this year?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And going

         23  forward?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

         25  There are ten more that are still in the process.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And you are

          3  looking for like roughly 38 within the next couple

          4  of years?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

          6  Thirty-eight stations completed within two years.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

          8                 What are the Department's response

          9  times for segment 1 through 3 calls separated by BLS

         10  versus ALS responses?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: We

         12  don't have that breakdown with that distinction.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Could that be

         14  provided at a later time?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

         16  Sure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. One more

         18  for me and then I am going to pass it to my

         19  colleagues.

         20                 In terms of your response time, or

         21  your protocols for response, when the engine goes

         22  out followed by say an ambulance in the case of an

         23  accident, is it the responsibility of the

         24  firefighters to take a history or take information

         25  that is then transmitted to the Police Department;
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          2  is that part of their role?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

          4  Currently the firefighters who responded first,

          5  maybe not in the case of an accident but to a CFR-D

          6  call, would begin to establish a patient record

          7  which will be passed off to the ambulance when it

          8  arrives on the scene.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Well, let me tell

         10  you why I asked that question. A few months back I

         11  was driving in my community and at a busy

         12  intersection a woman had been hit by a car and it

         13  was a hit and run. The firefighters got there in

         14  good time, the ambulance followed, the crowd was

         15  around, the woman was put on the ambulance and taken

         16  to the hospital. The police arrived much later.

         17                 There were witnesses to the hit and

         18  run, but there was no one around that could take the

         19  report. Actually I ended up taking the report and

         20  talking to the witnesses. The witness had the type

         21  of car, the description of the driver, the license

         22  plate number, and I waited around for the police to

         23  come to give them that information. I was just

         24  wondering whether there was some way of

         25  coordinating? Because had I not done that, the
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          2  identification would have been lost.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

          4  Currently that is not part of our standard

          5  procedure. We don't begin to collect the accident

          6  data itself, that is strictly a Police Department

          7  function.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: But if they are

          9  not there, and the ambulance takes the body, the

         10  crowd dispersed, it could be problematic.

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: It sounds

         12  like something we should talk to the Police

         13  Department about. If there is a gap there, there is

         14  nobody left to take the report because we rushed

         15  them to the hospital, we should do something about

         16  it. It makes sense. We will look into it and report

         17  back to you on what we find.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you.

         19                 Council Member Robles.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman. Commissioner, it is always good seeing

         22  you.

         23                 Let me begin by first commending you,

         24  because this issue on asthma is not a new one, yet

         25  -- I mean people are critical, but ever since the
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          2  merger now I see that every fire personnel is now

          3  trained so that someone suffering from asthma, it is

          4  about quick response, and I am happy that you have

          5  followed through with the recommendation and when

          6  you used to be part of the Public Safety Committee,

          7  and for that I want to say thank you, because as you

          8  notice, asthma is a serious condition that is

          9  impacting in communities. I wanted to say thank you

         10  for that, okay?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I love taking

         12  credit for all of the good stuff we are doing, but

         13  you are giving me too much credit. We are doing it

         14  with EMTs, not all the fire personnel yet. It is

         15  something we are working on expanding it on the fire

         16  side, but we haven't done -- all of the CFR-D people

         17  are not doing the Albuterol that you are referring

         18  to. Before it was just the paramedics, we have

         19  expanded that to all of the EMTs.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: You said

         22  fire, I didn't want you to give me too much credit.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Well, since

         24  now it is part of the Fire Department, I figured I

         25  would --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Great. We

          3  will take it then.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Here is the

          5  point, and I want to make sure I understand this is

          6  correct, if not I will take back my praise. Every

          7  ambulance that is operated by the Fire Department,

          8  EMS, now are trained, and can deal with asthma

          9  victims where before we had nothing in some of these

         10  ambulances, and I am going back to --

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Give the

         12  credit back then. If that is what you meant, then

         13  give the credit back, that's right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: All right.

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I just didn't

         16  want you to think that every fire engine --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now I will

         18  move to the next level and as we --

         19                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: -- Move along,

         21  maybe everybody, including the fire engines might be

         22  able to deal with it.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: What

         24  we did also was expand the call segment --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Do you have
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          2  your mic on, because I am having a hard time.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: We

          4  expanded the call segment types so that a CFR-D

          5  engine will now respond to an asthma call when an

          6  ambulance is not available.

          7                 Our next step is to discuss with the

          8  State Department of Health, expanding the Albuterol

          9  treatments to firefighters.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: The second

         11  area is, I am glad to see that you are working on

         12  three additional EMS stations, and these are

         13  actually physically buildings, and let me start by

         14  thanking you again for the EMS station at Wood Hull

         15  Hospital. Let me also point out that maybe as we

         16  move forward to any new development of EMS stations,

         17  I think we have learned something from our ceremony,

         18  because when I was there it was brought to my

         19  attention that now we have a fire station or an EMS

         20  station, but we didn't work with the Traffic

         21  Department to change the signs and so they were

         22  having problems getting out of the station and the

         23  Deputy Commissioner Lynn Tierney called me and

         24  thanked me, and I appreciate that. I see now we

         25  don't have the problem where our EMS responding
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          2  don't get caught up in traffic.

          3                 So I hope as we move ahead we keep

          4  that in mind so that when we do open up these

          5  stations, that we also adjust the signage so that

          6  only fire personnel will be able to be there or what

          7  have you.

          8                 This Greenpoint one, I am assuming

          9  that is the one we are talking about in Metropolitan

         10  Avenue?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

         13                 And let me ask you one more thing

         14  because this is an MMR hearing, and I recall you and

         15  I speaking and you brought to my attention some

         16  equipment that you would love to have but

         17  unfortunately it did not fall in the priority but

         18  very important in fire scenes and what have you. And

         19  I know that I was instrumental I believe in the FY

         20  '99 budget. That money that was put into your

         21  budget for the purpose of equipment, have you used

         22  it? Have you bought it? Is that part of what you

         23  said in your prepared text of new equipment? Is that

         24  what we are talking about?

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The purchase
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          2  order is in place for this HAZMAT equipment, that is

          3  already going forward right now, and there is some

          4  medical equipment that we are also going forward

          5  with purchasing right now.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And there were

          7  some cameras and other things that we were talking

          8  about, so all of these things are --

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Imaging

         10  cameras, correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, thank

         12  you.

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay, thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: We have been

         16  joined by Council Member Ronnie Eldridge from

         17  Manhattan.

         18                 I have a couple of questions that I

         19  have been asked to ask, related to the agency's

         20  E.mail policy.

         21                 Are you aware of the Citywide

         22  protocol for E.mail routing?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: Yes.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, can you
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          2  describe it for us?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

          4  E.mail routing is routed through Citinet, through

          5  the Fire Department.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Do you have

          7  written protocols for that?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Can you provide a

         10  copy to us?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

         12  Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: That

         15  is based on a Citywide, the New York City policy.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. And how

         17  long have you had this protocol?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

         19  Close to a year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Did you take a

         21  mailing address for an individual who corresponds to

         22  you by E.mail?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: Do

         24  we request? I think it comes through the E.mail but

         25  I am not sure. That's a technical question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Well, you get a

          3  screen name, but a mailing address in case you have

          4  to respond.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: It

          6  comes through a firewall. Currently we are in the

          7  process of applying for direct access to be able to

          8  respond back through a firewall. The City, in order

          9  to protect all of the systems of the various

         10  agencies, set up firewalls to protect some

         11  third-party from entering the system and viewing our

         12  data. So we have had a little bit of a tough time

         13  setting up a firewall so that we will be able to

         14  respond back directly to E.mail without compromising

         15  integrity of the City computer system.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And what is your

         17  current turn-around time for responses?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK:

         19  Well, we are not responding yet. We have to respond,

         20  when we get the E.mails in now, responding by

         21  traditional correspondence or phone calls.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. Well,

         23  that's why I asked you did you take a mailing

         24  address.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: Oh,
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          2  I see. Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: So you respond by

          4  mail or by phone?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FITZPATRICK: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Any other questions?

          9                 This one was easier, Commissioner.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Thank you.

         12                 (Recess taken.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: The Committee on

         14  Fire and Criminal Justice Services is reconvening

         15  with the Department of Probation, Commissioner Raul

         16  Russi.

         17                 Good afternoon.

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Good afternoon,

         19  Chairman Warden, members of the Committee on Fire

         20  and Criminal Justice. Before I take any questions

         21  you may have relating to the Mayor's Management

         22  Report, I would like to bring the Council up-to-date

         23  on some of the important initiatives underway at the

         24  Department of Probation.

         25                 As the Council knows, the New York
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          2  City Department of Probation has been involved in a

          3  daunting past of re-engineering its entire adult

          4  supervision function.

          5                 This re-engineering became necessary

          6  when the Department found itself facing a growing

          7  number of adult probationers sentenced for

          8  increasingly serious offenses. If we were going to

          9  take seriously our mission of promoting public

         10  safety, something drastic had to be done.

         11                 The Adult Supervision Restructuring

         12  initiative, or ASR, has now been fully implemented

         13  in every borough. The primary goal of ASR was to

         14  focus the bulk of our limited resources on those

         15  probationers deemed most likely to commit new

         16  violent crimes.

         17                 I will not attempt in t he brief time

         18  that I have here today to explain ASR in any detail.

         19  However, you should know that ASR is one of the

         20  largest reengineering efforts ever undertaken by any

         21  government agency.

         22                 In fact, Probation Departments from

         23  across the country and from as far away as England

         24  and Japan have sent individuals to New York to study

         25  ASR.
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          2                 The supervision component of the

          3  computerized tracking system created to support the

          4  reengineering effort is now up and running in all

          5  five boroughs. The Adult Restructuring Tracking

          6  System or ARTS, will enable Probation Officers to

          7  access instant up-to-date information on any

          8  offender in the City's Probation system. This is a

          9  quantum leap forward from the time when Probation

         10  Officers relied solely on paper files to manage

         11  large numbers of cases.

         12                 The goal of the ARTS system is to

         13  enable Supervising Probation Officers and Branch

         14  Chiefs to oversee caseloads and evaluate the quality

         15  of work done in their offices.

         16                 In addition, the system was designed

         17  to assist our headquarters to better analyze trends

         18  and outcomes. At every level of our Adult

         19  Supervision operation, there is now the potential

         20  for greater accountability.

         21                 To allow us to focus our energies on

         22  high-risk probationers, automated reporting stations

         23  were designed to take monthly reports from

         24  probationers considered to be low risk. As expected,

         25  we have found that the kiosk system, which
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          2  automatically sends out warning letters when a

          3  probationer fails to report, has dramatically

          4  increased on-time reporting percentages among this

          5  population.

          6                 We are now preparing to take what we

          7  have learned through the ASR initiative and adapt it

          8  to our Family Court services. Already we have begun

          9  emulating on a limited basis the cognitive group

         10  sessions designed to challenge the thinking and

         11  habits that lead to criminal behavior.

         12                 As we did with our Adult operations,

         13  we will be looking to computerize our Family Court

         14  Services. We have taken the first step in this

         15  process with the Criminal Justice Information System

         16  or CJIS, which recently went online.

         17                 Created to replace outdated JJIS

         18  system, CJIS provides information on juvenile

         19  arrests to Probation, the Department of Juvenile

         20  Justice and the Corporation Counsel. In the second

         21  step in this process, we will assess additional

         22  automation needs that will augment the functionality

         23  of the CJIS system.

         24                 One of the critical steps in

         25  rehabilitating young offenders is to get them to
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          2  understand the pain they have caused their victims.

          3  To that end, we have spent the past year training

          4  our Family Court staff to conduct Victims Awareness

          5  courses, which will now be offered at every level of

          6  Family Court Supervision.

          7                 The Department has expanded Juvenile

          8  Community Service to all five boroughs. The goal is

          9  to use community service to provide an educational

         10  experience for the young people sent to us, not just

         11  punishment.

         12                 Family Court judges see this as a

         13  very useful tool. In connection with the Juvenile

         14  Community Service, we will be looking for mentors to

         15  continue working with the young probationers after

         16  they have completed their community service hours.

         17                 In both our Adult and Family Court

         18  Services, our goal is to become a greater presence

         19  in the communities we serve. Through Operation

         20  Nightwatch, we have taken an important first step in

         21  that direction. In Nightwatch, Probation Officers

         22  are teamed with Police Officers to provide a

         23  heightened level of supervision for high-risk

         24  probationers in the neighborhoods in which they

         25  live.
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          2                 In FY '99, Operation Nightwatch teams

          3  conducted nearly 40,000 operations and made 920

          4  arrests of offenders who have violated the

          5  conditions of their probation sentence. In addition,

          6  Nightwatch teams did 16,500 curfew checks of

          7  juvenile probationers.

          8                 Over the last two years, Domestic

          9  Violence has become a major focus of this agency. In

         10  the coming months, we will expand our domestic

         11  violence programming, working closely with the

         12  District Attorneys in each borough and with the

         13  specially created domestic violence court parts. Our

         14  Domestic Violence Units provide services and

         15  referrals for the victims of domestic violence,

         16  giving them expedited access to the justice system.

         17                 The Department also runs a batterer's

         18  program and Intensive Supervision Probation Officers

         19  provide strict enforcement of the conditions of

         20  probation for domestic violence offenders.

         21                 Last spring the Department began a

         22  pilot program in Brooklyn which used cutting edge

         23  electronic technology to provide an unprecedented

         24  level of security to the victims of domestic

         25  violence. In essence, the Juris Monitor program
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          2  creates an early warning system in the home of the

          3  victim. In this system, the offender wears an

          4  electronic bracelet that triggers an alarm if he

          5  goes within a preset distance of the victims' home.

          6  The Juris Monitor warns the victim and notifies the

          7  Police and Probation. We hope in the future to

          8  replicate this system in each borough.

          9                 We are keenly aware of the need to

         10  address the problem of drug abuse in the probation

         11  population. To prevent recidivism, it is critical

         12  that we identify all offenders with a drug problem

         13  and require those offenders to enter and complete a

         14  treatment program.

         15                 To that end, last April we began a

         16  pilot program in Kings County in which we tested

         17  every adult probationer coming through Intake. We

         18  are in the process of analyzing results of that

         19  four-month pilot in order to determine what

         20  resources would be needed to do universal drug

         21  testing citywide.

         22                 In the meantime, we have expanded our

         23  drug treatment options. We have added 30 outpatient

         24  treatment slots and we have doubled the number of

         25  short-term inpatient treatment slots from 30 to 60,
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          2  bringing the potential annual pass-through number to

          3  720.

          4                 All new contracts with treatment

          5  providers will be performance-based and will include

          6  standards for outcome measurements. The treatment

          7  providers must demonstrate that their programs work.

          8  In the future, we will track retention rates, 30, 60

          9  and 90 days after admission to a treatment program.

         10  We will also track recidivism rates both during

         11  treatment and post-treatment.

         12                 Once drug problems are addressed, the

         13  most pressing need in the probation population is

         14  vocational training. A fully employed probationer

         15  with hope for his or her future is far less likely

         16  to recidivate.

         17                 Nova Ancora, the Department's

         18  employment program, has grown steadily over the past

         19  four years. This program has formed a partnership

         20  with a wide array of nonprofit programs which offer

         21  vocational and life skills training to probationers.

         22                 Those probationers preparing to enter

         23  the job market can take part in an intensive two-day

         24  workshop and an ongoing support group. A non-profit

         25  organization ha agreed to send professional athletes
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          2  on a monthly basis to Nova Ancora meetings to help

          3  provide motivation and encouragement.

          4                 In Fiscal Year '99, our Restitution

          5  Unit increased collections of payments to the

          6  victims of crime by 21 percent. Since our automated

          7  restitution system went on-line in July of 1996,

          8  collections have more than doubled.

          9                 I am particularly proud of the

         10  positive impact that our Community Service Unit

         11  continues to have on the quality of life in New York

         12  City neighborhoods. In every borough, our crews have

         13  become a mainstay of the

         14  Mayor's anti-graffiti effort. Our crews have painted

         15  gates and removed graffiti on commercial strips,

         16  cleaned parks and painted mailboxes in every

         17  borough. In addition to the obvious benefits to the

         18  neighborhoods served, I believe that community

         19  service can play an important role in the

         20  rehabilitative process.

         21                 Finally, along with my testimony, you

         22  have been given a brochure that includes the

         23  Department's new mission and values statements.

         24  These statements will serve as a frame work for a

         25  strategic plan, which is being designed and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  constructed by a committee representing every aspect

          3  of this agency. It is my hope that the strategic

          4  plan, as well as the mission and values statements,

          5  will be a source of strength and guidance for this

          6  Department in our efforts to provide for public

          7  safety in the new millennium.

          8                 I will be happy to answer any of your

          9  questions at this point.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         11  much, Commissioner. If you could just please

         12  introduce the members of your staff that are sitting

         13  at the table so we have it in the record.

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Absolutely.

         15                 To my right is Jan English, the

         16  Deputy Commissioner for Operations. To her right is

         17  Lou Gelormino, Deputy Commissioner for Program

         18  Services. To my left is Milagros O'Toole, who is the

         19  Deputy Commissioner for Administration.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 In reference to the adult

         23  investigation reports, we notice that the Department

         24  did not include the number of adult court

         25  investigation reports that were ordered in its
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          2  indicators this fiscal year, as well as in the past

          3  fiscal year. The Committee feels that this indicator

          4  is necessary to determine the percentage of

          5  investigated reports that have been completed.

          6                 Will the Department ask the Mayor's

          7  Operations Office to restore that indicator for the

          8  number of adult court investigation reports?

          9                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think we

         10  answered this question at the last hearing, and

         11  basically that particular indicator really doesn't

         12  say anything about the Department. That indicator

         13  says something about the courts and the schedule,

         14  the time frame by which the individual, the time

         15  between sentencing, conviction and sentencing is a

         16  court issue, they set the time frame, so the

         17  indicator, you know, the place in our indicators

         18  really had no meaning to us, so both us and the

         19  Mayor's Operation felt that it was a useless

         20  indicator, to hold us accountable to something that

         21  really belonged to the court.

         22                 So, I mean we will be glad to discuss

         23  that with the Mayor's Office of Operation, but the

         24  reality is that that indicator really doesn't say

         25  anything about us.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. This

          3  current fiscal year, the Department completed,

          4  according to our records, 1.9 percent more

          5  investigations than in Fiscal 1998, however, you

          6  fell short of the '99 target by 3.3 percent.

          7                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Again, the

          8  determination of how many we complete has to do with

          9  how many are assigned to us, and those assignments

         10  come out of the courts. So the number, we don't have

         11  any control over the number coming in, I mean the

         12  number comes in, we assign them, there is always a

         13  little gap one way or another by what time they come

         14  in, how they are processed, so it really doesn't

         15  have anything to do with whether we are being

         16  effective or not. We complete every PSI assigned, 99

         17  percent on time, better than 99, we are like 99.9

         18  percent on time. There are very few that we are not

         19  on time, the number is minuscule.

         20                 The time frame really belongs to the

         21  judges, some judges after awhile, some judges expand

         22  that time, some contract, it really don't test

         23  anything of our ability, we do it almost 100 percent

         24  timely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.
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          2                 Again, looking at the average

          3  caseload, some of the information that we have been

          4  getting, of course your caseload has expanded

          5  significantly and we are concerned that you have

          6  sufficient number of probation officers on staff to

          7  handle your load.

          8                 Let me first ask you, what is your

          9  current caseload per worker?

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay, to answer

         11  that, it becomes a fairly complicated system. We

         12  don't handle -- when we went to the ASR system,

         13  which we did four years ago now, we went away from

         14  what you call is your normal standard caseload.

         15                 Now, if you take the number of POs

         16  and divide it by the number of probationers, you

         17  will come up with a number that is probably in the

         18  200s, and it is listed somewhere here, it is 242.

         19  The reality is though that we designed a system that

         20  was more focused on the seriousness of the

         21  individual probationer possibility of reoffending in

         22  a violent way. We created caseloads that were

         23  specific to handle that type of individual, so as

         24  the cases most recently are coming in, the increase

         25  I believe have been the lower crime levels, those
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          2  individuals are picked up under our kiosk system and

          3  going to that kind of a reporting track. That system

          4  is flexible enough to handle quite an increase. The

          5  number of people coming in that are put into these

          6  specialized programs continues to be fairly

          7  constant, and we continue to handle those fairly

          8  well.

          9                 We develop a system that allows us to

         10  do an assessment of the individual coming in, a risk

         11  assessment, then we decide where that individual

         12  belongs, whether he belongs in our intensive blue

         13  group, cognitive group training, do they belong in

         14  the other tracks, whether it is amber for a very

         15  specialized treatment or toward the green track or

         16  one of the other tracks, and some of them get into

         17  special supervision programs. But the reality is

         18  that we don't, the average caseload in each track

         19  changes, depending on other factors but not

         20  specifically in the number of cases assigned. The

         21  number of cases over the last couple of years has

         22  been fairly constant, overall 80,000 cases.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Is the kiosk, the

         24  probationers that are in your kiosks, they are

         25  included in your caseload?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, of course,

          3  they are all included in the caseloads. Those

          4  caseloads, obviously because they are reporting

          5  through a machine, we can handle a large number

          6  through the machine. We have officers assigned at

          7  the, on-site for any probationer that comes in,

          8  needs additional help, or they have questions or if

          9  we have questions for them, there are officers

         10  always assigned on-site to handle them. But if they

         11  come in and everything is, you know, as they report,

         12  they are in and out in a few minutes and they go

         13  about their business, so they are basically

         14  cooperating.

         15                 And in fact, I think a lot of times

         16  it has been failed to understand about the system,

         17  is that this system is an improvement, a 100 percent

         18  improvement over what we had which was a letter

         19  reporting system. What we had before where people

         20  were writing us letters, and there were thousands of

         21  letters coming in and it was almost impossible to

         22  read each letter. It was impossible to read each

         23  letter. This system allows the individual to come in

         24  and answer specific questions that goes along with

         25  whatever their initial assignment to probation was.
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          2  If they answer all of those questions correctly and

          3  those questions are then verified, the individual

          4  goes back to working, being with their family,

          5  whatever, and it is not very intrusive. These are

          6  low-level individuals, in the past they weren't

          7  being supervised almost at all.

          8                 The other thing is that the

          9  individual is coming to us and answering all the

         10  questions. We know that that individual is in

         11  compliance, he gets up, he comes down, you know, it

         12  is very difficult for people to come down and see

         13  the probation officers when there are probation

         14  officers literally there, but they come in.

         15                 If they don't come in within a few

         16  days, they get a letter saying you didn't show up,

         17  you are going to be a violator if you don't come

         18  back to us and see us, and the reality is that the

         19  number of those people coming back has been

         20  dramatic. A very small percentage of the number

         21  don't return and eventually a violation is issued.

         22                 So, the system is working as

         23  perfectly as it was designed. I am thinking about

         24  other ways we can take advantage of this system

         25  because it is an excellent system.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: The Nightwatch

          3  Program.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: In the MMR the

          6  Department states that in Fiscal Year '99 the

          7  Operation Nightwatch Program resulted in 40,511

          8  field visits with 28,368 contacts with juvenile and

          9  adult probationers.

         10                 The Department stated that it will

         11  conduct 19,000 field visits in Fiscal Year 2000.

         12  Given the Department's apparent success with this

         13  program, why isn't the target number higher?

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, my

         15  understanding is the target number, the plan for

         16  next year is 40,000 visits. We went from 19 last

         17  year to 40,000 and we think now we are at capacity

         18  with the program's ability over last year.

         19                 The program picked up additional

         20  responsibility with Family Court curfew checks and

         21  the increase in the number of curfew checks and

         22  Family Court checks created the increased number.

         23                 We also have formalized a better

         24  agreement with the Police Department so they are

         25  much more active with us. So we were able to  now
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          2  bring this program to its initial capacity. I

          3  believe this is an excellent program, it has proven

          4  its benefit and we are looking to partnerships to

          5  increase and continue to find ways to bring the

          6  probationers back into the community using this

          7  target model.

          8                 This model was originally designed in

          9  Boston, both the Mayor's Office and this Council

         10  asked us to look at the Boston Project. We in fact

         11  followed the direction of the Mayor and obviously

         12  the advice of the Council, we went to Boston and we

         13  looked at their projects, we took from them those

         14  things that we thought would be good for our

         15  Department, we incorporated it into our agency and

         16  in fact that program has been very successful. We

         17  are now beginning to look at other parts of the

         18  program throughout the country and we are looking at

         19  other possibilities that we will incorporate into

         20  our system to make -- have more success with having

         21  the probation officers out in the community, working

         22  in the neighborhoods closely with communities.

         23                 So, as you will see in the future we

         24  are definitely going out there, we are presently

         25  involved with a project in the Brooklyn DA's Office,
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          2  jointly putting programs together there, and like I

          3  said, we are looking to expand in other areas. We

          4  have some ideas that we are putting forth before

          5  operations and we will be glad to share those when

          6  they begin to come to fruition.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me pass the

          8  hat to my colleague, Ronnie Eldridge, who has a

          9  question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: With the

         11  domestic violence programs, I am interested in the

         12  role of the agency. You deal with the courts in

         13  deciding and making recommendations for disposition

         14  of cases --

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That's correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So it seems

         17  to me you are right up front as far as domestic

         18  violence. Let's take misdemeanors or felonies, for

         19  all of them would you be?

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I am sorry?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Both

         22  felonies and misdemeanors?

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We provide PSIs

         24  for the judges on both misdemeanor and felony, yes,

         25  that's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, my

          3  understanding from the Police Department was that

          4  there were 26,000 assault cases heard last year or

          5  so far this year. We had a certain difficulty with

          6  the numbers because Brooklyn, they had something

          7  like 15,000, and Queens testified, the Queens DA

          8  yesterday testified that they had at least 5,000 so

          9  it didn't seem to me, to all of us, that that was

         10  the right number.

         11                 But in those cases, you have made

         12  recommendations then in all of those cases, do you

         13  recommend jail time?

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: In most cases we

         15  do.

         16                 When we see an individual has a

         17  propensity for violence and there has been any

         18  attempt at corrective behavior and there has been no

         19  follow up on that, then in most cases we do.

         20                 Now, each individual case, I must

         21  say, is handled on an individual basis. We review

         22  all of the facts.

         23                 We have now begun to put together

         24  specialized, a specialized program to train our

         25  officers specifically on domestic violence, and in
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          2  fact we are doing that in several other courts.

          3                 We expanded it to all other boroughs,

          4  where specialized units in each borough will be tied

          5  together with the domestic violence courts who will

          6  do all the domestic violence PSIs, and know that

          7  inside out.

          8                 And we started it as a matter of fact

          9  by some changes that we made in our formerly Smith

         10  Bell Program, which we have had some discussions

         11  here in the past, and the program, it has been very

         12  successful, in tracking, supervising and then in

         13  combining with the officers who have been trained to

         14  do the special reports, PSIs, to the judges, all

         15  combining. And we are going to incorporate all of

         16  the pieces of the program that include the

         17  specialized unit who does the PSIs, the supervision

         18  into a unit across the five boroughs who will be

         19  specialists in handling domestic violence. So that

         20  is where we are going.

         21                 We have all of the pieces together in

         22  a different borough, we are going to create units in

         23  each borough that will handle a case from the

         24  beginning to the end as it walks through. Those

         25  individuals are placed on probation, will be handled

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  by a special unit, part of that unit will do the

          3  PSIs and it will be a comprehensive program that

          4  will be coming.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And do you

          6  have access then to the Police Department, the

          7  incident reports?

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Oh, absolutely.

          9  We have all of the information from the initial

         10  arrest, and we have the authority to go and get

         11  more, to investigate, to get a hold of, contact the

         12  victims. We contact everybody involved in the

         13  incident. We can go to the home and talk to the

         14  victim. We can do any of those things.

         15                 So, we are in the best position, you

         16  are absolutely right, we are in the unique best

         17  position to make the best possible recommendation to

         18  the judge, and because we are training and working

         19  closely with the judges in this program, the judges

         20  take our recommendations very serious, and like I

         21  said we also have for those individuals where the

         22  judges feel that a jail sentence is not appropriate,

         23  we have the Juris Monitor Program, we can put a

         24  bracelet on the victim and a bracelet on the

         25  perpetrator. We can tag them and see if they have
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          2  any contact with each other, and immediately that

          3  system contacts the police and the probation officer

          4  and the police will respond immediately to the

          5  scene. Our officers have beepers, they respond

          6  immediately to the scene, an arrest is made and you

          7  can bet --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: How does

          9  your officer, Probation Officer, get notified by

         10  that, 911?

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No, we have a

         12  beeper system that is part of the alarm system. The

         13  officers automatically beep at the same time the

         14  police officers do --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: The

         16  probation officer in charge of that person who has

         17  the bracelet on automatically --

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We have a

         19  specialized unit that is handling that particular

         20  case, and that individual gets notified immediately,

         21  as well as the police.

         22                 Now, the police are obviously in the

         23  best spot to respond, they are in the precinct and

         24  they can immediately go to the house and respond.

         25  They are in the precinct, they can immediately go to
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          2  the house, the officer, you know, could be at home,

          3  it could be in the evening or the weekend. So the

          4  police go to the site, the officers notify, he

          5  contacts the police, they make contact, he goes to

          6  the scene, most likely if a contact was made,

          7  because usually together with a special order from

          8  the court that the individual would have to have

          9  contact, therefore the officers will make an arrest

         10  immediately. We will come in, we will follow up with

         11  the Police Department, make all of the reports

         12  necessary, go back to the judge and in most of those

         13  cases the judge will --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Do you know

         15  how many DV offenders were sentenced to jail time

         16  last year?

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That information

         18  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Would you

         20  have that, though?

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't have that

         22  information specifically, but we can get it for you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes, I would

         24  like to know that.

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: My

          3  understanding, though, is that there is as of yet

          4  still no centralized collection of all of the

          5  domestic violence incident reports done by the

          6  police from precinct to precinct.

          7                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, that I think

          8  you have to ask the Police Department.

          9                 We come into the picture at a much

         10  later time. We come into the picture once the case

         11  has been decided.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I know.

         13  Right. Well, they have just gotten a $2 million

         14  grant in order to improve their computer records

         15  that you will be able hopefully to take all the

         16  precinct incident reports.

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Our hope is that

         18  within the next year or so we will have in each

         19  borough a centralized unit that will handle a case

         20  from the PSI stage, and if the individual does end

         21  up on probation in a specialized unit, that could

         22  include, depending on the judge's orders, the

         23  contact system that we just talked about where the

         24  victim has a unit in their home that basically goes

         25  off, she gets a beeper plus this unit and the
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          2  individual comes within a specified distance of that

          3  victim, the Police Department is notified and we are

          4  notified.

          5                 And also, if it is not appropriate

          6  for that system, then very close supervision.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Do you think

          8  you could collect for us the information about how

          9  many times you have recommended jail time and how

         10  many people have actually been given jail time?

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I will take a

         12  look at it and let you know.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I think that

         14  would be a very interesting thing for us to find. We

         15  are trying to look at the whole system from the

         16  police through.

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I started as a

         18  police officer, and I was shot in the line of duty,

         19  I spent 15 years as a police officer, I ran a

         20  correctional system, I ran the parole system and I

         21  ran the probation system, 29 years in this business,

         22  and to me, you know, we all have very specific

         23  roles, the judge is the decision-maker. We give them

         24  all the information to make the decision, and they

         25  ultimately have to make the decision.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I have been

          3  in this business also a long time, not in the same

          4  way, and recommended training in different sections

          5  with the Office of Court Administration. It would be

          6  interesting to know with the new determination of

          7  mandatory arrest, with a stronger view about

          8  battering, whether in fact that same attitude --

          9                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I will ask my

         10  staff to collect data on all of the specialized

         11  reports that they had done by that unit to see how

         12  their recommendations were followed by the judge.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes, that

         14  would be interesting for us.

         15                 Then I have one more question about

         16  substance abuse.

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Sure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: When you get

         19  a substance abuser and they either have served a

         20  term less than a year or they have been sentenced to

         21  probation, right?

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And they

         24  test positive on drugs.

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What

          3  percentage of those people are on public assistance

          4  now? I mean, what percentage of them are on HRA --

          5                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Actually, the

          6  number that we ran, we ran a tracking system between

          7  ours and HRA to look at how many people who are on

          8  probation in general were also in HRA.

          9                 Our initial run gave us about 4,000

         10  out of a total standing almost 60,000 cases that we

         11  have.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Is that

         13  right? Not very many.

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: So the number is

         15  small.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes.

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: When we really

         18  went and began to lock in on the information and

         19  verify the number even dropped lower.

         20                 So, our system basically deals with

         21  male offenders. I mean, by a large majority, 80 --

         22  almost -- I think 80 some percent, 90 percent, of

         23  our population --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Does that

         25  mean that the woman all have jail time?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No, what I am

          3  saying is the system, HRA system, as you know has

          4  changed dramatically and there are very few -- many

          5  of the working individuals are not in the system,

          6  and unfortunately in our society the individuals

          7  left with the children are the women, so they end up

          8  being in more need and the men are in many cases, in

          9  some of these cases are in prison.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: So, it has become

         12  a situation where we don't have -- we thought at one

         13  time that we did. The number is a lot smaller. Some

         14  people are homeless, we have people in a lot of, you

         15  know, menial jobs working at minimum wage, we have a

         16  lot of people in drug treatment programs, we have a

         17  variety of those groups. But the group that are both

         18  on probation and on HRA are small.

         19                 And just to that end, we have joined

         20  with HRA to put together a program that will jointly

         21  supervise those individuals, so in the very near

         22  future, we are going to be working together as a

         23  unit, housed in the same building, both HRA and

         24  Probation, we will be tracking those individuals

         25  together. Because in reality, their need for HRA are
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          2  the same needs that we have. There are needs for

          3  drug treatment, employment services, educational

          4  service, mental health services. We don't get

          5  involved in the determination of need or anything,

          6  but their personal need, to get into a job program,

          7  to get into some kind of mental health treatment if

          8  they need it, to get into drug treatment if needed,

          9  all of those things, they are a part of our special

         10  conditions and probably the requirements are HRA.

         11  So, it is appropriate that two City agencies doing

         12  the same kind of work should join together and do it

         13  together.

         14                 HRA has a large number of resources

         15  available, much larger than we do, and we are going

         16  to take advantage of those resources so that we can

         17  have our population access.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And one

         19  other question, what percentage of your population

         20  is homeless so that they end up in a City shelter

         21  system?

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't have that

         23  information, but I can get that for you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: You don't

         25  know. That would be interesting too.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you.

          5                 Just as a follow-up, when you were

          6  talking about the domestic violence and the bracelet

          7  program --

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: How many

         10  individuals are currently in that program?

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: There are at

         12  present 118 individuals that have gone through this

         13  system as we have right now. The program that we are

         14  talking about, not the bracelet system, but the

         15  domestic violence program. Of the individuals in the

         16  -- with the bracelet, I believe there are about a

         17  dozen individuals that are either in the process of

         18  going through that program in Brooklyn and the pilot

         19  program that we are doing.

         20                 I can get you the specific number.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And how many

         22  times has the alarm gone off?

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I believe that we

         24  have three times. I think it was three times. And in

         25  the first case the officers got there, by the time

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  the officers got there the individual had left. He

          3  was arrested at his home a few minutes later.

          4                 There was another time that I believe

          5  the alarm also went off and either there was a

          6  problem in the machine that set the alarm off, and

          7  we did a lot of investigation --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: It was a false

          9  alarm?

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, we think it

         11  was a false alarm, we are not 100 percent sure. We

         12  are still working on the details.

         13                 But we couldn't find the individual

         14  anywhere and there was no contact. He says there was

         15  no contact so we are verifying all of the details.

         16                 And I forget the other one -- no, the

         17  third one was -- made contact and was a violator and

         18  is awaiting trial.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: So that is three

         20  out of 12.

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Out of the

         22  present 12 that we have gone to. It is a small

         23  number. There has to be an agreement. There has to

         24  be an agreement by the DA's Office, the victim, the

         25  perpetrator, everybody has to agree because this is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  a very intrusive system, so there has got to be an

          3  agreement by all parties that they are going to

          4  participate. Because if the victim says no, then we

          5  can't put the system in their home. If the

          6  perpetrator says no, then most likely they are going

          7  to go to jail because the judge is going to sentence

          8  them to jail, and some perpetrators would rather go

          9  to jail than have that system placed on them.

         10                 So, everybody has got to be in

         11  agreement for the system to work. And so far in

         12  those cases where there has been an agreement,

         13  everything is moving along.

         14                 We keep them on that system for a

         15  specific period of time. We do an evaluation after,

         16  I believe it is six months, and if everybody is

         17  agreed that we should disconnect, we do. And those

         18  successful move on to their lives. The initial time

         19  during those initial months where there is a lot of

         20  friction and there is a lot of concern and fear that

         21  it works best, it is not designed for a long term,

         22  you can't have it on forever, obviously, so at some

         23  determination, specific determination, we do an

         24  assessment. But it is agreed upon by the DA and

         25  everybody knows what the parameters of the agreement
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          2  is from day one, so in the six months when we go and

          3  disconnect the victim says well I thought this was

          4  going to be forever, they understood from the

          5  beginning that it was a specific amount of time and

          6  then if they still feel, the judge and the DA and

          7  all of us feel that we need to extend it, we do. But

          8  it is agreed upon.

          9                 So it is not a system that is ever

         10  going to have a large number of individuals on,

         11  because you have to have a three-way agreement on

         12  it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

         14                 You mentioned something earlier about

         15  Smith Bell?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And I understand

         18  you have changed the focus and the implication of

         19  the program.

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Can you explain

         22  the major changes and how it is working?

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Actually, I am

         24  very proud to report that exactly what we projected

         25  would happen has happened.
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          2                 Number one, the original, I am

          3  fortunate enough to know exactly why Smith Bell was

          4  put together. I was at the state at the time that

          5  the state was trying to get the City to do something

          6  about violation of probationers landing in jail, and

          7  they offered up some money for what they call was

          8  the Edgecombe Project, where they would take

          9  individuals who were on probation who were about to

         10  violate and get them into some kind of alternative

         11  program so they would not violate and up in the

         12  state system they put up the money, and they created

         13  what they called then was the Edgecombe Project, it

         14  was renamed later on to Smith Bell.

         15                 Basically they would take young

         16  individuals who started to develop the possibility

         17  of violation, the behavior, patterns of behavior and

         18  other things, and they would be put into this

         19  program.

         20                 In the last year that we ran the

         21  program, I think we had just under 100 individuals

         22  that went through the program in an entire year,

         23  with a success rate of less than 50 percent of

         24  completion. When we tracked the individuals that

         25  completed, a very small number of the individuals
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          2  that really stayed arrest free.

          3                 So, sometimes when you create

          4  programs, you have to decide this program is not

          5  working, it isn't meeting the needs we originally

          6  designed, we are spending a lot of money and we

          7  originally decided that a couple years back that

          8  maybe this program really wasn't what it was made

          9  out to be and we have to revisit it.

         10                 By the way, the state took away their

         11  dollars, they were supplemented by City dollars, and

         12  we thought, well, why should we continue?

         13                 We then decided that the need really

         14  was in the domestic violence area, like Councilwoman

         15  Eldridge talked about. They are taking into

         16  consideration the awareness and the continued

         17  problem in the domestic violence field, that what we

         18  needed was some help in that area. So what we did is

         19  refocused Smith Bell toward the Domestic Violence

         20  area.

         21                 And as I said a few minutes ago, we

         22  have already had 118 cases placed in that program

         23  and it is as successful as we thought it would be.

         24  Twenty-three people graduated from the program and

         25  moved on. Three of those revocated (sic), 23 into
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          2  general population, the other continue to go into

          3  the program.

          4                 So, we did more in this program in a

          5  very short time than we ever did in the Smith Bell.

          6                 We have taken only a portion, about a

          7  third of the Smith Bell Program and brought it back

          8  up to test it, because we were not going to go

          9  through the same scenario we went through the last

         10  time.

         11                 Now, with the results of what we have

         12  done so far, we are looking, as I said to Council

         13  Member Eldridge, to expand the rest of the program

         14  throughout the City to the other boroughs so that we

         15  have specialized units who handle the domestic

         16  violence cases in each borough.

         17                 This program is going to be much more

         18  successful than the original Smith Bell was, and it

         19  is going to meet today's needs, and if we as an

         20  agency don't look at today's needs and focus on a

         21  program that basically was meant for another time,

         22  it is not working, then we would be foolish in

         23  spending the dollars foolishly.

         24                 So, I think that we have done the

         25  right thing. I think that the program, as we record
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          2  probably in the next year, you will see that there

          3  will be a tremendous change, and already we have

          4  gotten more cases with one-third of the program than

          5  we had done with all of the other programs in the

          6  entire years.

          7                 So, I think you are going to see a

          8  very successful program.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you.

         10                 Council Member Michels.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Commissioner,

         12  it is always good to have you here.

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Same here.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: As you know,

         15  your agency has been a particular interest of mine

         16  for many, many years in the Council, and for many

         17  years we never had you, your agency, appear at the

         18  MMRs, so it is important that you be here. And I am

         19  very happy to hear that you are getting into the

         20  area of domestic violence, I think this is the first

         21  year where I remember there was ever extensive

         22  questioning on it, and I am very grateful that

         23  Council Member Eldridge is here who is an expert. We

         24  just recently had a hearing on that issue, and we

         25  are trying to get a handle on the figures on this
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          2  thing, because the Police Department testifies as to

          3  arrests made and everything else, but they can't

          4  tell us anything with respect to dispositions of

          5  those cases, or what happened to those cases,

          6  whether or not there actually were convictions or

          7  not. And if there weren't convictions maybe perhaps

          8  they could learn for something they did wrong in the

          9  processing of the arrest that resulted in the

         10  exoneration of the perpetrator, if he or she was

         11  guilty.

         12                 So, you only have the figures as to

         13  those who were actually found guilty and you do a

         14  probation report prior to sentencing, your

         15  pre-sentencing report.

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But those

         18  figures would be valuable to us. At least if we had

         19  your figures and compared them to the police

         20  figures, we then would know how many people were

         21  arrested and were not convicted.

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, since I

         23  understand the system fairly well, there are a lot

         24  of factors, as you well know, and I know

         25  Councilwoman Eldridge is well versed in this area
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          2  and knows, there are many steps along the way from

          3  the arrest.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We

          5  understand. We understand there are many reasons why

          6  people are not --

          7                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Cases are

          8  dismissed, case charges are dropped.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: My daughter

         10  is an ADA who handles these cases.

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         12                 By the time we get them, I am sure

         13  that of the individuals arrested --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The percentage

         16  that come to us are small.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But we can't

         18  get a handle on the -- we regard it in the Council

         19  as an extremely bad situation, domestic violence,

         20  and we feel there is an increase in domestic

         21  violence.

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We agree.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And we want

         24  to get a handle on it. We want to know what is

         25  happening.
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          2                 In other words, we say it is a

          3  problem that needs accountability. And the only way

          4  you have accountability is to get the figures on it

          5  so we know what is happening here and we can ask the

          6  right questions. It is not an amorphous thing that

          7  we can't talk about. I just wanted to tell you that

          8  I am pleased.

          9                 Now, I also see that according to a

         10  chart we have in front of us, the fact there is

         11  Family Court supervision, you project an increase in

         12  your caseload for the Family Court to about 98.7

         13  percent cases per probation officer in the Family

         14  Court as opposed to 85 before.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, I have to

         16  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I didn't ask

         18  my question yet.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Because I am not

         20  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Let me ask my

         22  question and then you can say what you want.

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I see a

         25  projected increase of 98.7 per cases, as opposed to
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          2  99, which is 85.4, and I only see an increase of one

          3  probationer, one probation officer; how are you

          4  going to be able to handle that increase without

          5  hiring more probationer officers?

          6                 And then maybe when you are talking

          7  you can tell me what your attrition rate is.

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: First of all, let

          9  me say that I went through the chart myself and

         10  reviewed this over the last couple of days, and I

         11  must admit that I was a little baffled.

         12                 We had a lengthy discussion between

         13  my staff and I yesterday, and to be honest with you,

         14  we haven't gotten to the bottom of this.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The bottom of

         16  what?

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Why that number

         18  is. Because our overall -- I think there is an error

         19  in here, that is what I am saying.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay.

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think there is

         22  an error. Our overall number of staff for Family

         23  Court has not changed. If you look at our overall

         24  number of staff. This is a particular unit within

         25  Family court that has the drop, so I asked my staff
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          2  to --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Are we

          4  reading from the same chart? I want to make sure we

          5  are reading from the same chart?

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Full-time

          7  employees 27, 27 and 28; is that the one you are

          8  talking about, on page 20?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, I am

         10  looking at this chart.

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Oh, it is your

         12  chart. It is not my chart. I can't tell you about

         13  your chart. I can't explain it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is based

         15  on your figures.

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay. All right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Before you

         18  get to that, do you want to tell us where you think

         19  there is a mistake in your chart?

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No. It might

         21  relate to that number. It relates to that specific

         22  number, that is what I am saying.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, fine.

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I asked the same

         25  question because I was surprised by the number, and
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          2  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I asked the

          4  question, and maybe innocently I found something.

          5                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It is the same

          6  issue, it just goes back to the number. When you

          7  divide up the number of cases by 27 and then you

          8  divide it by 23, it is in the indicator, but it

          9  relates to the same number.

         10                 Basically I think it is an error. I

         11  have to go back and check. I asked my director --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: An error in

         13  what, in the caseload or the number of personnel?

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No, the number of

         15  personnel.

         16                 I think the caseload hasn't changed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are

         18  projecting an increase in caseload of 98.7 from

         19  85.4.

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Because of the

         21  staff, we projected that the number of staff is

         22  going down from 27 to 23. If you divide the 23 by

         23  the same number, it increases that caseload. So we

         24  are going to go back and look at that, because we

         25  believe there is an error.
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          2                 The other thing was that there was a

          3  decision to move staff over from this part of the

          4  unit to another unit for a specific reason, which

          5  then drove up that particular caseload. But just say

          6  that Family Court overall, caseload over the last

          7  several years has not changed, it may have been a

          8  decision made by --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Now while we

         10  are pointing out --

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Can I finish my

         12  explanation?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Sorry.

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Because I think

         15  it is important. You know, you asked me a question

         16  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I didn't mean

         18  to interrupt you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't mind

         20  admitting where we made a mistake, if we made a

         21  mistake in this scenario we want to correct it, and

         22  prior to coming over here we had a discussion, me

         23  and my staff, back and forth, about this number, and

         24  the individual who gave the information to the folks

         25  who prepare for the Mayor's Office has left the
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          2  Department, Mary Ellen Flynn, we were trying to

          3  contact her to verify and I had Herman Minescu, who

          4  is my new director, go over the numbers, we just

          5  couldn't get it all done before today's hearing.

          6                 So, we will get that answer to you

          7  back in writing. I would like to know myself.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: One of our

          9  jobs here is to clear up discrepancies.

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, and mine

         11  too.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: While we are

         13  talking about discrepancies, on Nova Ancora, in

         14  Volume II of the Mayor's Management Report, on page

         15  21, we have the numbers of the petitioners,

         16  probationers preferred and in place in the Nova

         17  Ancora, and it shows that Fiscal Year '98, 1,173.

         18  However, in Volume I, on page 45, it only says there

         19  is 1,060, which is right? Volume I, page A-45.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: It is

         21  for '98 1,173 and for '99 --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In the text

         23  at the top of page --

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That is why I am

         25  asking Deputy Commissioner Lou Gelormino, who is the
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          2  father, inventor, big supporter of Nova Ancora.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: As I am.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I know, but here

          5  is the man who put it together and made it happen

          6  when nobody else believed in it. If anybody knows

          7  the real number, Lou knows the number.

          8                 So, what is the number, Lou?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: The

         10  number for 1998 is 1,173. We projected 1,100 and we

         11  actually serviced 1,173.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Then there is

         13  an error in Volume I, on page 45, which says --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: There

         15  is a discrepancy.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That in

         17  Fiscal Year '98 there was 1,060.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: There

         19  is a discrepancy. There is a discrepancy. The actual

         20  number is 1,173.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So this is an

         22  error.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: That

         24  is from 1998.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, we are
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          2  talking about 1998. I thought maybe the terminology,

          3  the words they used, one uses referred and placed,

          4  there is no difference in the word serviced or

          5  referred and placed?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: These

          7  are probationers who were served, who were referred

          8  to vocational training.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I know what

         10  they are, but I am just wondering. But the thing is

         11  there is a discrepancy.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: The

         13  correct number is 1,173.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, so

         15  Volume II is correct?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: Yes,

         17  Volume II is correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I am very

         19  appreciative of the work you are doing with Nova

         20  Ancora. As you know, I believe it is a very

         21  important program, because you have so many people

         22  who are on probation who are unemployed, so they

         23  have to have the skills to get a job other than the

         24  skills that they come to you with, namely criminal

         25  skills.
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          2                 What plans are there to increase the

          3  number of participants in the Nova Ancora program?

          4  You have increased it from 400 or 500 in the past.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELORMINO: Every

          6  day actually we go out among the City not-for-profit

          7  corporations and private employer labor unions and

          8  corporations and we put resources into place. We

          9  constantly do this. Right now we have over 100

         10  resources in place that we refer our probationers

         11  to, since the inception of the program five years

         12  ago, and what we hope to do is we hope to get more

         13  money so we can get more slots so we can service

         14  more clients, get them with vocational training and

         15  employment, and we go to foundations as well, and we

         16  have gotten some foundation money. Just recently we

         17  got $200,000 from Trinity Church to do a two days

         18  in-house life skills program, that is turning out to

         19  be very successful, with the South 40 program and

         20  with the CEO.

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think one thing

         22  you should also know is that quality of service is

         23  critical to us, and one of the things that as we

         24  were growing we realized that retention is important

         25  and making sure that the individuals follow through
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          2  on their attendance. Some of the programs were

          3  getting back saying the retention was a problem.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The

          5  recidivism is down of these people --

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No, but what I am

          7  saying, I am trying to answer your question about

          8  why we didn't project another big number, every once

          9  in awhile you have to go back into the program and

         10  make sure the program is running right, and part of

         11  the problem we had was that people were not staying

         12  in the program. They were leaving the program, they

         13  weren't showing up to the program, so we went back.

         14  We created a program, like I mentioned in my report,

         15  what we do in a two-day, very intensive training to

         16  try to get --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That $200,000

         18  grant.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right. To go back

         20  and try. Well, we also got some money from the

         21  Trinity Church to help us put that together. We got

         22  some City dollars, we got a grant from the community

         23  to help us do that, to make sure that the

         24  individuals who go to the programs stay in the

         25  programs because --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Of course

          3  that is important, because if they don't finish the

          4  program then the program is no good.

          5                 The question in my mind again is, and

          6  I raised this issue during the budget and I am

          7  raising it again here, if the program is such a

          8  successful program, which it is because it is run so

          9  well and you do such a wonderful job with it, why

         10  don't we get more money from the City government to

         11  put more money into the program, hire more people so

         12  that we can run the program and serve more of these

         13  probationers and let them live a life where they

         14  start paying taxes instead of having to go back to

         15  jail and cost us tax money?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, the answer

         17  is that there are a multiple of needs for a

         18  department like mine, and as I get my budget I try

         19  to spread it out accordingly with all of the needs

         20  that I have to run the agency.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So they give

         22  you a certain amount of money and you haven't got

         23  enough money for this, I understand. But why don't

         24  we get the City to give you more money?

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, I think
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          2  that the City has to make their decisions about

          3  their resources in the same way.

          4                 I believe if we make the program

          5  grow, we are going at a pretty good steady pace, we

          6  right now sort of took a little step back to take a

          7  look at if the program is being effective. We will

          8  go back and we will take a look, we will continue to

          9  look at resources. I am sure the City will continue

         10  to look at us and make some determinations if they

         11  want to put additional dollars --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: This program

         13  has been in existence for how many years now? Five,

         14  six years, and it is an area, it seems to me it is a

         15  successful program. What do you have 70,000

         16  probationers who are unemployed, or something like

         17  that?

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Oh, no, that's

         19  not --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Or 50,000?

         21  You have got thousands and thousands, tens of

         22  thousands who are unemployed who could make use of

         23  this program, we just don't devote the resources to

         24  it.

         25                 And I am not saying the money they
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          2  give you you should split and give more to them and

          3  have less for yourself, I am saying from the City

          4  treasury they should recognize that this is a

          5  program that saves the City money, and saves the

          6  state money. When you keep a person out of jail and

          7  not committing crimes, what you have done is you

          8  have saved the cost of jails, the cost of court

          9  proceedings and it is worth every penny that you are

         10  spending on it and we just don't devote the

         11  resources to it.

         12                 The Commissioner of Corrections just

         13  came in, I want to take this money away from

         14  Corrections and put it into the Nova Ancora program

         15  so they won't have to have them in Corrections.

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't disagree

         17  with you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In my opinion

         19  you should be in there, and you probably are, and I

         20  am not even going to ask you to answer the question

         21  -- if I were the Commissioner of Probation, I would

         22  go into OMB and argue like the devil to give me more

         23  money to develop this program, because it is really

         24  a drop in the bucket considering the need, and you

         25  have proved it. For five years you have proved that
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          2  this program works. And let's make sure it works.

          3                 You don't have to answer that,

          4  Commissioner. I am just making a statement based

          5  upon what you have been doing, and I think it is

          6  wonderful, but I think that you have now proved that

          7  this program works and we should be doing more to

          8  it.

          9                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I just want to

         10  make one comment. I am not going to answer, but I am

         11  going to make one comment.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: There has to be a

         14  lot of work done before an individual can be placed.

         15  These individuals have to be drug-free, they cannot

         16  be involved in drug activity --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand.

         18  You also have to have personnel to do it.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right. So the

         20  number of people that are in Probation, it would be

         21  unfair to say that every individual is on probation

         22  -- first of all, not everybody on probation needs a

         23  job, and the other one is, not everyone on probation

         24  is prepared to go into an employment situation

         25  there.
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          2                 We have a large number of people in a

          3  treatment program, a large number of people with

          4  mental health problems. We have a variety of other

          5  issues that necessarily  don't allow that individual

          6  to go into those areas.

          7                 So, I am not saying you are wrong --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am so

          9  pleased you have said just what you have said.

         10  Because now what I want you to do is come to me,

         11  before we have a hearing, maybe next week or so, and

         12  tell me how many people who are in the jurisdiction

         13  of your agency who you think can be eligible for

         14  this program had there been available slots for it.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That's what I

         17  want to know.

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you are

         20  right, 70,000 are not eligible.

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Maybe not

         23  even 50,000. But there are good thousands of people

         24  who will be eligible, and had we had the resources

         25  we would have put them in this program, and you
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          2  could probably tell me that because there are a lot

          3  of people ineligible.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The question is,

          5  do we provide an opportunity for jobs for everybody

          6  within the Criminal Justice System, and there is

          7  also that same need in other areas. So, the City is

          8  not going to always --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: If we can

         10  provide a job for a person who would otherwise be

         11  committing a crime, and give them a job as a

         12  productive member of society, when we are doing a

         13  heck of a service, that is double dipping, I would

         14  think.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I know. But we

         16  also have to take cognizance that there are a

         17  tremendous amount of other needs that we deal with

         18  the probation officers that allow them to also --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I don't want

         20  you to take any money from your other good needs.

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We prepare them

         22  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: One moment.

         24  Let me finish my thought.

         25                 Commissioner, I want you to take
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          2  money from the City government.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Wait a minute,

          4  that's my tax dollars too, Councilman.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I

          6  understand. And your tax dollars, and you will be

          7  saving the tax dollars, because instead of having to

          8  pay $60,000 for a man to sit in jail, or a probation

          9  officer who has to follow somebody around, you are

         10  putting a man back who will be paying taxes. Doesn't

         11  that make sense?

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We don't --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I just don't

         14  understand that.

         15                 The other thing I wanted to ask you

         16  is, are you finding-- according to your statement,

         17  you are finding now that you are putting people on

         18  probation, not you, but the courts are putting

         19  people on probation who have been found guilty of

         20  more serious offenses than before, are these violent

         21  crimes?

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think over 50,

         23  50 percent of the individuals that come on probation

         24  are violent crimes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Your
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          2  statement says the growing number of adult

          3  probationers --

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, there was a

          5  time --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: --

          7  Increasingly serious offenses. So, now you have more

          8  people who are on probation for more serious

          9  offenses? Is that because they are committing them

         10  or the courts are sentencing people --

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: My statement --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Let me

         13  finish.

         14                 -- Who ordinarily would be sentenced

         15  to jail are now being put on probation?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: My statement goes

         17  back to the decision made, back five, six years ago

         18  to go away from then the differential supervision

         19  which was the model that was being used to the

         20  present ASR.

         21                 That decision then, five years ago,

         22  was to figure out a way to deal with this new

         23  increasing number of more violent individuals being

         24  placed on probation. That was five, six years ago.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you think
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          2  they should be put on probation or do you think they

          3  should be put in jail?

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think they

          5  should be put in jail, personally.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So the judges

          7  are putting people on probation who should be in

          8  jail? And ignoring your probationary

          9  recommendations?

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: My recommendation

         11  has been to the Mayor in the past that there are

         12  certain individuals that are placed on probation

         13  that should be in jail instead of probation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The judges

         15  are not listening to the probation reports?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: They make their

         17  own --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Before you

         19  said they listen to you.

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: They are the

         21  decision-makers, we give them our, through the PSIs,

         22  we make our recommendation, they ultimately --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you have

         24  any facts and figures on that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We can get you
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          2  the numbers.

          3                 But you have to understand, the

          4  comment was made about what was happening at 1994,

          5  '95, '94 and previous to that. We weren't talking

          6  about it today, but we can get the numbers from then

          7  until today.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Just let me

          9  put it in perspective. We are being told that crime

         10  is radically down all over the country, and yet you

         11  are telling us that we are actually putting more

         12  people on the streets who probably should be in jail

         13  for violent crimes, and for some reason they are not

         14  committing the crimes.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Councilman, with

         16  all due respect, this is the third or fourth time I

         17  have said it, the remark in my statement talks about

         18  a statement about four or five years ago when we

         19  changed from one system to another, at that time

         20  there was an increase of crimes coming on, more

         21  violent individuals coming on to probation. That is

         22  what was happening then and that is why the

         23  determination then made by the Commissioner, I

         24  believe it was Catherine Abate, whoever the

         25  Commissioner was at that time, to change the way we

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            87

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  did business to the model we have today.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Maybe it is

          4  working. Maybe even though they are being convicted

          5  of crimes which ordinarily they would have gone to

          6  jail, you now have this new program and they are not

          7  committing the crimes.

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That is a very

          9  good possibility.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Is there any

         11  way of following up to find out if that is in fact

         12  the case?

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, we are

         14  beginning to do some research on all of our programs

         15  to see how successful each of them are.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Maybe you

         17  were wrong and maybe they did --

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No, I think we

         19  were right, that's why crime is down.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You were

         21  wrong in recommending they go to jail, since they

         22  are out and they are not committing the crimes.

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Oh, you asked me

         24  the question whether I believe there are people

         25  being placed on probation that belong in jail, and I
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          2  said yes, there are some people that are on

          3  probation that belong in jail.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And is that a

          5  substantial number of people?

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Probably

          7  substantial enough that it probably --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am not

          9  talking about one or two, I am talking about a

         10  course of conduct here.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RUSSI: There are

         12  individuals committing -- there are crimes, there

         13  are civic violent crimes, VFO crimes, that are being

         14  placed on probation that probably should be in jail

         15  and that number is significant enough for us to be

         16  always alert about it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, fine.

         18  And you are alert about it, and you have the records

         19  on all of those people, and you can tell whether or

         20  not they have become recidivists; do you whether in

         21  fact they become recidivists?

         22                 And if that is the case, then we

         23  should go to the courts and somebody should make a

         24  case and somebody should say these people should be

         25  in jail. Why are you putting them on probation --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We have done

          3  that. The Mayor has done that. We have done that and

          4  the Mayor has done that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you have

          6  the facts and figures on that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We have told the

          8  Mayor in a couple of reports that there are some

          9  individuals, VFOs, that should not be on probation.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Could we get

         11  those facts and figures?

         12                 I am sure you are not doing this on

         13  an anecdotal basis, you are doing this on a

         14  statistical basis, right?

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We are looking at

         16  individuals, as we look at specific individuals who

         17  either violate or commit other crimes, that we

         18  thought should not have been on probation in the

         19  first place, and in those cases we are talking about

         20  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I know enough

         22  about the judiciary system that when judges

         23  consider, when they consider sentencing, they look

         24  at trends and they look at what is going on in other

         25  courts, what their colleagues are doing.
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          2                 So, they are now putting more people

          3  into probation who ordinarily would have gone to

          4  jail, that is more of a policy, maybe it is not a

          5  policy, it is like a policy.

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I am not going to

          7  answer that again.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am making a

          9  statement to you. If in fact what you are finding is

         10  the fact that they are putting people out, and that

         11  is a policy, it is probably close to a policy, and

         12  if you want to reverse that policy you have got to

         13  have just more than one or two cases, you have got

         14  to have a statistically relevant situation to show

         15  them that they were doing wrong.

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I am sure they

         17  did when they made the decision.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am not

         19  talking about an individual decision, I am talking

         20  about finding a reversal policy. And if you showing

         21  that they are putting people on probation that

         22  belong in jail, we should know about it. And the way

         23  you know they are doing wrong is because they become

         24  recidivisms, and you have those records more than

         25  anybody else. You know who you recommended to go to
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          2  jail, who the judges in turn said they should be put

          3  on probation and who committed the crimes, even

          4  though they were put on probation, right?

          5                 My final comment, I guess, is that

          6  you have said that you have a program going here to

          7  do something, rehabilitating young offenders, and so

          8  to get them to understand the pain they have caused

          9  their victims.

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That's right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I was

         12  just wondering if you can report to us as to whether

         13  this program works or whether they really understand

         14  that?

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We will be glad

         16  to. It is in the early stages. We will know as time

         17  goes on whether --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: As soon as I

         19  read that I just had immediate thoughts of Claude

         20  Brown's book Man Child in the Promised Land, which

         21  was written maybe 15, 20 years ago, and maybe even

         22  more, where he did a study of youth crime in the

         23  slum areas, and then he revisited it about ten years

         24  later, and he said, you know, back in those days at

         25  least they felt bad when they committed a crime, now
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          2  they have no conscience about it, they don't care.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't know if

          4  that is true. I think --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, I am

          6  telling you what he wrote.

          7                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't know that

          8  is true. I think when you look at --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am just

         10  wondering whether or not this type of program is

         11  working.

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: What we decided

         13  to do, and we are looking into it and we are working

         14  on it, we have the program started, is begin to work

         15  with these children, mostly young adults, to you

         16  know, make them really understand what victimization

         17  is all about. Because you are right, in many cases

         18  these young men and women don't understand. They

         19  disconnect from the victim and therefore they don't

         20  know or understand --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is the

         22  point, maybe you are wasting your time. Maybe they

         23  don't really care.

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, if they

         25  don't it should be our business to make them
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          2  understand, that is exactly why we should be doing

          3  that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well,

          5  evidently Claude Brown felt they couldn't do it.

          6  Okay.

          7                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, there are a

          8  lot of things that people felt couldn't be done that

          9  have been done, so we are just going to try it. We

         10  think it is a good effort to try.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Try.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Just a couple

         14  more questions. This is in relation to the

         15  Department's E.mail policy. These questions, they

         16  have requested that I ask them of all of the

         17  agencies.

         18                 The first one is: Are you aware of

         19  the Citywide protocol for E.mail routing, tracking

         20  and response time?

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, we are.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. Can you

         23  describe your Department's policy?

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: All the E.mails

         25  that come through Citinet to our Department, are
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          2  routed to my office. Jack Ryan, who is our Public

          3  Information Officer, is responsible for researching

          4  with the different department units, and you know

          5  within our units, and preparing a response back to

          6  whoever the individual was who inquired about the

          7  information and we are tracked through the Mayor's

          8  Office and all the E.mail comes through the Citinet

          9  into our office, and we are up-to-date on responding

         10  to all of them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Do you have a

         12  written policy, or an internal document?

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We don't have a

         14  specific City -- but there are specific guidelines

         15  and we are following the City guidelines.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

         17                 Do you provide acknowledgments for

         18  the receipt of E.mail?

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I am sorry, I

         20  didn't hear you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Do you provide

         22  acknowledgments for the receipt of E.mail?

         23                 In other words, when you get an

         24  E.mail, do you acknowledge that you have received

         25  it?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The Citinet

          3  receives the E.mail and forwards it to us and then

          4  we respond to every single E.mail, so they get a

          5  response on every single E.mail.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: What is your

          7  turn-around time on the response?

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Less than ten

          9  days.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: All right.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Is that it?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: That's it.

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Thank you.

         15                 (Recess taken.)

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: The Committee on

         17  Fire and Criminal Justices Services will reconvene

         18  with the Department of Corrections, Commissioner

         19  Bernard Kerik.

         20                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Good afternoon,

         21  Chairman Warden, and members of the Committee. I am

         22  Bernard Kerik, Commissioner of the Department of

         23  Corrections.

         24                 I thank you for this opportunity to

         25  discuss with you the Department's current
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          2  performance that is covered in the most recent

          3  Mayor's Management Report.

          4                 For Fiscal 2000, the Department has

          5  been allocated 873.1 million dollars --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Move the mic

          7  closer.

          8                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: This will cover

          9  our operations, which include the care, custody and

         10  control of approximately 16,655 inmates per day in

         11  14 facilities in anticipated admissions of 122,160

         12  down from last Fiscal Year's total of 127,029

         13  admissions.

         14                 The Department's 11,341 uniformed

         15  employees and 1,641 civilian employees comprise a

         16  highly effective management team which will be able

         17  to accomplish its priorities for the current fiscal

         18  year.

         19                 Over the last several years the

         20  Department's primary concern has been in the area of

         21  violence reduction. In Fiscal '95, it was common for

         22  inmates stabbings and slashings to average 130 per

         23  month. This put great stress on uniformed and

         24  civilian employees, as well as inmates themselves.

         25                 Yet, by Fiscal Year '99, stabbings
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          2  and slashings for the entire year totalled just 102,

          3  a 90 percent reduction. This was achieved through a

          4  comprehensive violence reduction program.

          5                 Uniformed managers were held

          6  accountable for lowering violence in their

          7  facilities. Searches were greatly increased,

          8  lowering the number of weapons held by inmates and

          9  our Gang Intelligence Unit began arresting inmates

         10  who commit acts of violence while in custody.

         11                 Prior to this initiative these acts

         12  were treated as inmate infractions and not violent

         13  crimes to be prosecuted in the courts.

         14                 Inmates arrests have risen from 203

         15  in Fiscal '97 to 1,186 in Fiscal '99. Arresting

         16  visitors who commit crimes or have arrest warrants

         17  has also assisted in the Department's security

         18  program.

         19                 Visitor arrests have risen from 282

         20  in Fiscal '98 to 348 arrests in Fiscal '99. As a

         21  result of these and other efforts the Department has

         22  become a model for violence reduction for jail

         23  assistance throughout the country.

         24                 A second major success story for the

         25  Department has been in the area of capacity

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  management. The Department manages is capacity of

          3  22,584 beds by opening and closing certain

          4  facilities and portions of facilities to reflect the

          5  size of the inmate population.

          6                 Back in Fiscal '93, the Department

          7  assumed in its planning that only 93 percent of its

          8  open beds could actually be filled by inmates at any

          9  time, as the remaining seven percent would be

         10  unavailable due to repairs and the need of separate

         11  different classes of inmates from one another, for

         12  reasons such as sex, age, security classifications

         13  and other factors.

         14                 Through greater oversight and an

         15  aggressive program to reduce down cells, the

         16  Department has been able to shift its planning

         17  target upwards to 96 percent of open bed capacity.

         18                 The improvements in efficiency have

         19  allowed the Department to save on overtime and

         20  address vital long-term facility maintenance

         21  projects in closed housing areas. This includes

         22  improvements in fire safety, shower replacement and

         23  the Cook Serve Project.

         24                 The success of our efforts in

         25  reducing violence and managing our jail space has
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          2  allowed us to focus on other priorities. One of

          3  these priorities is programs. Drug addiction is a

          4  serious problem for many of our inmates. Because of

          5  this the Department has expanded its residential

          6  drug treatment program to 1,548 beds last fiscal

          7  year.

          8                 We offer a range of services

          9  including substance abuse education, HIV education,

         10  individual and group counseling, and placement in

         11  community-based programs upon release.

         12                 For this Fiscal Year, the Department

         13  was awarded $2.8 million on an annual basis by the

         14  City Council to contract with three providers who

         15  will identify inmates while on Rikers Island for

         16  their programs once they return to the community.

         17                 These contractors will then follow

         18  the clients progress and measure relapse, rearrest

         19  and reincarceration rates over a two-year period.

         20                 This follow-up will be the first step

         21  toward the effective evaluation of these initiatives

         22  while providing the basis of future program

         23  improvements.

         24                 I have also been looking at ways to

         25  enhance the agency's discharge planning efforts
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          2  outside the formal programs, such as HIP, STEP and

          3  SAID. For example, up to 54 percent of our inmates,

          4  of the inmates in custody, are released within ten

          5  days.

          6                 This short length of stay does not

          7  allow for any meaningful pre-release counseling. I

          8  am, however, securing an agreement with the New York

          9  Public Library which will allow the Department to

         10  print and distribute to each inmate upon admission a

         11  publication entitled Correction 6.

         12                 Correction 6 is a guide to resources

         13  in the community for ex-offenders and an

         14  instructional tool on how to write resumes and

         15  interview for jobs.

         16                 We are also providing Social Security

         17  card applications and birth certificate applications

         18  in common areas, such as the law libraries and

         19  schools in order to help the inmates secure needed

         20  documentation for their job search and access to

         21  other services upon release.

         22                 The Department has also begun

         23  planning with the Human Resources Administration to

         24  open a discharge planning center on Rikers Island.

         25  HRA's Discharge Planning Center, modeled after the
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          2  job centers in the community, emphasizes work first.

          3  This will provide access to job search and placement

          4  services in the community.

          5                 Inmates will also receive information

          6  about child care services if needed, educational and

          7  training services, and make referrals for

          8  appropriate services if needed.

          9                 For Fiscal 2000, it has been proposed

         10  to provide this service in a pilot program at two of

         11  our facilities - Rose M. Singer, and the

         12  Correctional Institution For Men.

         13                 These initiatives, along with

         14  discharge planning, offered in our formal programs

         15  and by many volunteer groups on Riker's Island,

         16  provided a much needed resource for inmates in our

         17  custody. The intent is to address behaviors, which

         18  led to incarceration and successfully reintegrate

         19  the offenders into the community, thereby keeping

         20  them out of the criminal justice system.

         21                 The Department's concern for the New

         22  York City community extends not only to efforts at

         23  rehabilitation but prevention as well. The

         24  Department has begun an intervention initiative

         25  called Reducing Adolescent Problems or RAP.
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          2                 RAP includes a group of correction

          3  officers who go into the community and addresses in

          4  school groups, churches and community centers about

          5  gangs, guns, drugs, violence and education.

          6                 They also provide educational tours

          7  at Riker's Island. Their objective is to dispel the

          8  myth that negative behavior is acceptable and that

          9  Riker's Island is a right of passage. Their work has

         10  been well received in the community built by youth,

         11  their parents and community leaders.

         12                 In fact, Fiscal '99, RAP

         13  representatives came in contact with over 33,000 New

         14  York City kids through either school visits or tours

         15  to Riker's Island.

         16                 For the future, the Department

         17  received a $200,000 annual grant for FY 2000 through

         18  2002 from the U.S. Department of Justice to fund

         19  four correction officers for this program. We are

         20  presently seeking additional grant funding to expand

         21  the program.

         22                 Along with programs, facility

         23  maintenance will be a major concern for the

         24  Department during the current fiscal year.

         25                 The Department is in the process of
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          2  acquiring software to enhance its automation of

          3  facility work order tracking. This automation will

          4  provide the Department with enhanced maintenance

          5  work order tracking capabilities, in terms of both

          6  level of detail and speed that far exceeds the

          7  previous capabilities. It will allow us to schedule

          8  staff around maintenance needs, deploy trade staff

          9  through facilities, better manage overtime and

         10  increase our operational efficiency.

         11                 An area of significant expansion for

         12  the Department for Fiscal 2000 is training. This

         13  year we are funded to provide almost six days of

         14  annual training to every uniformed correction

         15  officer. This training includes security skills,

         16  fire safety, mental observation, and many other

         17  critical skills. In addition, further training will

         18  be provided for staff and specialized units, such as

         19  emergency service, gang intelligence, and the K9

         20  unit.

         21                 Training is the foundation for

         22  professionalism and excellence and our enhanced

         23  training will ensure higher standards of performance

         24  throughout the agency.

         25                 The Department is also expanding its
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          2  technological initiatives.

          3                 In October 1998, we began a pilot

          4  project to monitor inmate access to health care

          5  services departmentwide.

          6                 The pilot project allowed the

          7  Department to track on a daily basis inmate arrivals

          8  and waiting time for sick call.

          9                 We are also tracking inmate failure

         10  to appear in the clinic, as well as their reasons

         11  for failing to appear. The Department's MIS

         12  division, in conjunction with strategic planning and

         13  programs recently improved and completed the design

         14  for an automated clinic tracking program which would

         15  be piloted at the Anna M. Kross Center by the end of

         16  CY 1999.

         17                 This initiative will be expanded to

         18  all facilities before the end of Fiscal 2000.

         19                 This automated system will replace

         20  the manual process of recording and capturing

         21  medical service, waiting time information. The

         22  information that will be captured and reported by

         23  the new system is critical in the evaluation of

         24  inmate access to medical services.

         25                 Since its inception of October '98,
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          2  clinic waiting times have been reduced from an

          3  average of 61 minutes to 45 minutes in August '99.

          4  And I am happy to announce that for the month of

          5  September, the average waiting time for an inmate

          6  sick call was 36 minutes, and in no case was an

          7  inmate waiting over three hours.

          8                 Another of the Department's

          9  technological initiatives is the video

         10  teleconferencing project. This project provides the

         11  Department of Correction, the Department of

         12  Probation, the Brooklyn Courts, Supreme Court and

         13  the Brooklyn Treatment Court with remote

         14  interviewing capabilities for non-essential calendar

         15  calls.

         16                 During Fiscal '99, an average of 89

         17  court appearances, 102 attorney interviews, 57

         18  program interviews and 62 probation interviews per

         19  month were conducted using this system.

         20                 This method of interviewing has

         21  proven popular with the courts and has improved the

         22  security for the Department.

         23                 Two years ago, on October 21st, '97,

         24  the Department implemented a technological

         25  initiative known as VINE. This computerized phone
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          2  system notifies crime victims when an inmate has

          3  left DOC custody. During the last fiscal year,

          4  approximately 3,586 calls per month were made to the

          5  VINE call center. For the first two years in its

          6  operation, 4,530 individuals had registered.

          7                 As of January '99, callers may also

          8  use the same number to check the status of and

          9  register for, inmates in the custody of the New York

         10  State Department of Correctional Services. It is

         11  expected that the system will be expanded to 30

         12  upstate counties by the end of December of '99.

         13                 The driving force for improvement of

         14  all of these areas is the managerial program we call

         15  TEAMS. TEAMS stands for Total Efficiency and

         16  Accountability Management System. The TEAMS approach

         17  is to provide intensive management sessions with the

         18  senior members of the Department in a total review

         19  of each facility's level of management, and to

         20  provide to the degree practical immediate resolution

         21  of problems and trouble spots.

         22                 This mix of comprehensive review,

         23  high standards of accountability and

         24  trouble-shooting with the power to take immediate

         25  action has resulted in a highly effective way for
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          2  the Department to perform its critical functions.

          3  TEAMS has received recognition throughout the law

          4  enforcement community as a model for organizational

          5  efficiency.

          6                 I thank you for your interest in

          7  these matters. My staff and I will now respond to

          8  any questions you may have.

          9                 To my left is the Chief of Department

         10  William Fraser. To my immediate right is John

         11  Antonelli, the Acting First Deputy Commissioner, and

         12  to his right is Roger Paris, the Deputy Commissioner

         13  for Strategic Planning and Programs.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         15  much, Commissioner.

         16                 Let me first go into an area that you

         17  first raised, which is the questions regarding the

         18  violence reduction. And you have been doing a good

         19  job in that area.

         20                 According to the Fiscal Year '99 MMR,

         21  the continued success of the Comprehensive Violence

         22  Reduction Program consisted of enhanced security

         23  procedures, significant increases and the number of

         24  searches, increased arrests of inmates for

         25  jail-based activities of violence, or other

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  infractions, all which has created a safer

          3  environment for the staff and inmates alike.

          4                 Although it wasn't reported in the

          5  MMR, does the Department anticipate further

          6  reductions in the number of stabbing and slashings?

          7                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, I

          8  personally do anticipate reductions in the numbers

          9  that we presently have for Fiscal '99. As far as the

         10  numbers we would like to see, I would like to see

         11  zero stabbings and slashings. Is that physically

         12  possible? I don't know.

         13                 I do anticipate some reductions and I

         14  think the initiatives we now have in place, I think

         15  that might be really possible.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Commissioner,

         17  what is VINE? I know what it is, but what does it

         18  stand for?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Victims

         20  Information Notification Everyday.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, very

         22  good. I happen to think it is a very good program.

         23  And we have seen a marked decline in incidents of

         24  victims being revenged, damaged or killed, injured

         25  or killed, as a result of this program? Do we know
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          2  how effective the program is? Is there a way of

          3  measuring it.

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, I don't

          5  think we are tracking how effective the program is.

          6  The state might be doing so.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I think it

          8  might be a good idea to track it, because we have

          9  one of these programs, you are spending money on it,

         10  you are doing it, it's a good idea, certainly

         11  theoretically it is a good idea. It would appear to

         12  me that would be a very good type of program to see

         13  how effective it is. And also it makes it easier for

         14  you to get money in the future, because you show it

         15  works.

         16                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Okay, we will

         17  look at it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It's just a

         19  suggestion. I think you are certainly to be

         20  commended on the reduction in stabbings from 130 per

         21  month to 102 per year, that is unbelievable for a

         22  reduction. What you attribute it to I guess is the

         23  supervision and the constant searches?

         24                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: There is a number

         25  of things we have done, one of which I would say in
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          2  the last three years probably we have tripled the

          3  amount of searches we are doing, the searches, the

          4  numbers are very high right now. One of the other

          5  things that we are doing that may come up later is,

          6  has to do with the creation of the gang intelligence

          7  unit.

          8                 Prior to I think 1995, if you

          9  committed an act of violence or a crime in the

         10  system, you weren't charged with the crime. We had

         11  people that were slashed and stabbed and cut and

         12  assaulted and basically they were infracted

         13  internally and sent to punitive segregation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You mentioned

         15  that in your statement.

         16                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Now if you commit

         17  one of those acts of violence you are arrested and

         18  you are charged with a crime. And that has been a

         19  very big deterrent, I think, and it sends a clear

         20  message to the inmates that we are not going to

         21  tolerate criminal activity inside the system.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You have

         23  studied exactly what causes criminal activity inside

         24  the system, causes anger and violence, and are you

         25  using any sort of psychological --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, I think a

          3  part of the security initiatives that some people

          4  never look at is programs, and one of the things

          5  that we have done is we have enhanced a number of

          6  the program activities internally and a lot more

          7  programs internally, plus the added education

          8  programs, this keeps the inmates busy, it keeps them

          9  occupied, it gives them things to do and it takes

         10  their minds off of --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It reduces

         12  the anger.

         13                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It reduces the

         14  anger, and therefore it assists in the violence

         15  reduction.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am

         17  fascinated by the fact that you have increased the

         18  visitor arrests, in that not only you arrest

         19  visitors who were trying to I guess bring in

         20  contraband and you catch, but the idea that you

         21  check and see whether or not they have an

         22  outstanding warrant against them.

         23                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, we do two

         24  things. There are two different operations that go

         25  on. One, five days a week, as you know, we have
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          2  visitors come on to Rikers Island. We have about

          3  500,000 visitors on the Island a year who come to

          4  visit inmates. Randomly we will run warrant checks

          5  in conjunction with the Police Department's warrant

          6  division, and if they pop on a warrant they are

          7  arrested on site.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You only do

          9  that warrant, you only do that randomly?

         10                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, you do it

         11  randomly because if you did it --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You wouldn't

         13  have time to do anything else.

         14                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: If you don't do

         15  it randomly and you do it every day, they will know

         16  it is coming and they won't show up, which really

         17  wouldn't be a bad thing either.

         18                 But when they do show up and they

         19  have warrants they are arrested. And if they come in

         20  to visit someone and they get into an institution

         21  and they are conducting, they are having a visit,

         22  and they are caught passing contraband, two things

         23  happen:

         24                 One, the inmate that receives the

         25  contraband is in fact arrested and charged with

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            113

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  possession of a narcotic or contraband.

          3                 And, two, the person that brought it

          4  in is arrested and charged criminally.

          5                 So, that also is sending a pretty

          6  clear message about the criminal activity.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How do you

          8  determine whether somebody has a warrant against

          9  them?

         10                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: When they come

         11  into the initial visit house they identify who they

         12  are going to see. They provide their pedigree

         13  information. They are coming in for a visit, they

         14  provide their information, their date of birth,

         15  their name.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: For proof of

         17  who they are?

         18                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes. And we run a

         19  warrant check. If the warrant pops, then there is a

         20  further investigation to ensure that that in fact is

         21  the person, no different than the Police Department

         22  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And that is

         24  all done while he is visiting with the prisoner?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Absolutely.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you have

          3  that time to encourage them to stay longer --

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No, we stick to

          5  our policy. They get in and out, and maybe they

          6  don't get out.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How long does

          8  it take you to do that check?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: The actual check,

         10  the warrant check only takes about two or three

         11  minutes. It is getting the information, when you

         12  have a multitude of visits it may take a little

         13  longer. But there is really no rush because they

         14  have to get from their visit station to the jail,

         15  they have an hour visit, come back out, and if they

         16  are foolish enough to come on Rikers and have a

         17  warrant, then they are going to get arrested.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you do

         19  this every day?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No, it is

         21  randomly.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In other

         23  words, you don't do it every day?

         24                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I would think
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          2  if you do it every day, you randomly take the

          3  percentage of people who come in.

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No, the word

          5  spreads very quickly about the institutions. If you

          6  do one of these operations today, within two or

          7  three days the entire system will know you are doing

          8  this and then the people that are wanted won't show

          9  up.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You don't

         11  think they know that already now?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: They know it is

         13  coming randomly, but people are foolish.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand.

         15                 I have one more.

         16                 I was very interested also in your

         17  statement with respect to the job search. You came

         18  in while I was questioning the Commissioner of

         19  Probation on this Nova Ancora Program, which I think

         20  is extremely valuable, and realizing of course that

         21  you only have an opportunity for so many of the

         22  short period of time, many ten days or something

         23  like that, how successful have you found this

         24  program?

         25                 Do you have any statistics as to how
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          2  many people you have helped get jobs as a result of

          3  the program?

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, the

          5  discharge planning things that I talked about in my

          6  statement, some of the things we are looking at

          7  right now is basically new. In fact, I thought I had

          8  a copy -- oh, I do have a copy of it.

          9                 Correction 6 is a publication that is

         10  put out by the State, and it is given in certain

         11  circumstances to inmates, or former inmates, that

         12  come out of the State system.

         13                 We found the publication and because

         14  there is always a concern for discharge planning and

         15  what people are going to do when they get out of the

         16  system, as you said ten days, we lose 54 percent of

         17  our population in ten days. That is not a lengthy

         18  time for you to really have any benefit of

         19  counseling or discharge planning to a person. But in

         20  this book is every resource possible to anybody that

         21  gets out of an institution from resume writing to

         22  job interviews to welfare reform -- just a number of

         23  different things they can get out of the book.

         24                 So one of the things we are going to

         25  do, we have got permission from the State, from the
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          2  Board of Ed I think, to reproduce the book at our

          3  cost, we would do it ourself, and every inmate that

          4  comes into the system, all 122,000 for next year

          5  will receive a copy of it. So, even if we couldn't

          6  get to them in some kind of formal program, even if

          7  they are out in two days, they are going to have

          8  access to the book and the information that is in

          9  here to benefit them when they get out.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Will you make

         11  a determination of who might be eligible for this

         12  program?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, it depends

         14  on the program.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are

         16  giving the book to everybody?

         17                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Everybody is

         18  getting the book.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am just

         20  wondering how well it would be if you would work

         21  with the Department of Probation to try to help the

         22  program in conjunction with job placement, since

         23  they are doing it also, and you are dealing

         24  generally with the same personnel.

         25                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right now we have
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          2  been working, as I said in my statement, with the

          3  Human Resources Administration. The Department of

          4  Probation is involved in that project.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am talking

          6  about the Nova Ancora Program. If you pool your

          7  resources and work together, because you are both

          8  dealing with people that are a part of the criminal

          9  justice system. And as I have often said, any system

         10  is only as good as its component parts, and you have

         11  two very important component parts are sometimes

         12  overlooked, too many people concentrate on the

         13  District Attorney's Office, the police, at the same

         14  time you probably could be more involved in

         15  prevention with programs such as this, as well as

         16  the Department of Probation, because the ideal thing

         17  would be to have less people in your prisons.

         18                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: I can talk to

         19  Commissioner Russi about it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I would

         21  hope so. Maybe you will be able to work together and

         22  to provide jobs to some of these people so they can

         23  become taxpayers instead of tax users.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I want to
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          2  tell you how pleased I am since your advent as the

          3  commissioner, how pleased I am with your agency. And

          4  one of the indications are, I remember there was one

          5  time, and as you know I have been in the Council, a

          6  member of this Committee some 21 years, I don't

          7  remember this Department doing as well as it is

          8  doing.

          9                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Thank you, sir.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There have

         11  been some very fine commissioners it has had, but I

         12  think that you have shown some great leadership and

         13  I am very appreciative, and not only your

         14  leadership, but also the men and women who serve

         15  under you. And the fact that you are out of the

         16  newspapers is even a further indication.

         17                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Councilman, don't

         18  jinx me.

         19                 I thank you, and on behalf of the

         20  staff, who I think do a tremendous job, from the

         21  people in this room right down to the correction

         22  officers, I thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are

         24  welcome. You deserve it. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me go back to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            120

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  some of the numbers.

          3                 You were talking about initially the

          4  projections and further reductions in stabbings and

          5  slashings, the other area, it seems like the number

          6  of fights or assaults are slightly increasing, while

          7  at the same time you are taking steps to develop

          8  your zero tolerance policy, and I am wondering, what

          9  do you think is a cause of the increase of fights

         10  and assaults? Do you think it is because of the

         11  tension of the zero policy?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, it could be

         13  a number of things, and to me really it is kind of a

         14  good news story, and it is a good news story because

         15  what I look at overall, is I have to look at the

         16  injuries involved when there is a stabbing or a

         17  slashing, or when there is an assault, when there is

         18  fights, the physical injuries are substantially

         19  lower.

         20                 There is going to be the

         21  confrontations at times, and I would rather them, if

         22  they are going to get in a fight or if they are

         23  going to be infracted for fighting, I would rather

         24  them be fighting with hands and feet versus shivs

         25  and shanks and knives. And the other infraction area
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          2  that we look at has to do with the confrontations

          3  with staff. And you are going to see more contact

          4  with staff when you have more searches. Searches

          5  have gone up, as I said, about three times. If you

          6  look at the percentages in the amount of searches

          7  that have risen and how many searches we do overall,

          8  compared to the number of infractions for officer

          9  inmate confrontations, I would say it is far less.

         10                 So, it is something I kind of

         11  expected, but my primary concern is injuries, things

         12  like that. Class A uses of force, which are the more

         13  severe uses of force, the uses of force that result

         14  in hospitalization or inmate injury, severe injury,

         15  those types of force over the last maybe two years

         16  are down about 60 percent. So, when you look at it

         17  on an overall picture, it is really a good news

         18  story for us.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: You mentioned in

         20  the testimony the Gang Intelligence Unit, and they

         21  have made a certain numbers of arrests, I believe it

         22  is about 1,186 arrests.

         23                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Are you able to

         25  categorize those arrests in areas of say violence
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          2  and weapons possession or drug possession?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Not sitting here

          4  I can't categorize them, I say, but all of the

          5  above. I don't think there are too many categories

          6  outside of that with the exception of maybe arson,

          7  that the primary arrests are for. I could have my

          8  staff research it and get back to you, I will give

          9  you the exact numbers.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Ball park now,

         11  what do you think is the most common type of arrest

         12  made by the Gang Intelligence Unit?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It would have to

         14  be assaults. I would say probably assaults.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Now, the way you

         16  operate, any other officer or any other personnel

         17  that is empowered to make an arrest, or is it just

         18  the Intelligence Unit?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, by the

         20  power of authority any correction officer could make

         21  the arrest, but we have really taken the arrest

         22  power or the arrest procedure away from the arrest

         23  of the institutions. At one time visit arrests were

         24  done by the visit staff in each institution, so if

         25  you were a visit officer and you saw someone passing
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          2  contraband, you could in fact make the arrest

          3  yourself.

          4                 We really have gotten away from that

          5  and we turned those arrests over to gang

          6  intelligence. One of the reasons we do that is

          7  because now, through the gang intelligence unit we

          8  have personnel assigned to the Police Department's

          9  Intelligence Division and the Drug Enforcement

         10  Administration, the DEA Task Force. What we now do

         11  for people that are arrested for drug crimes,

         12  passing narcotics through visits, that information

         13  and the intelligence they get from them is then

         14  turned over to the PD and turned over to the DEA for

         15  further investigation. So it is kind of a

         16  collaborative effort between outside agencies so we

         17  can further maybe investigations on the outside to

         18  see where the drugs are coming from, if someone sent

         19  them in, who is ordering them inside, so it is a

         20  continuous investigation and the way we do that is

         21  by having Gang Intel process all of the arrests.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: So, someone comes

         23  to visit, they are there in the wait area, as they

         24  go to see whoever they are going to see --

         25                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And one of the

          3  officers observes --

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: The passing of

          5  contraband, right. Then that officer will take the

          6  inmate, secure him, take the visitor, secure them,

          7  seize the property, notify gang intelligence who is

          8  on the island, the gang intelligence agents will

          9  then respond to the facility and take custody of the

         10  arrestees.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

         12                 Earlier in the year you had a problem

         13  out there. An officer was shot -- not an officer, an

         14  inmate was shot.

         15                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: An inmate was

         16  shot. I think that was back on March 11th of this

         17  year. It happened in JATC, James A. Thomas Center.

         18  The inmate's name was Beadie. He was a 28-year-old

         19  Greek male, and really as far as what happened, I

         20  would really rather not get into it right now. It is

         21  under investigation by the Police Department and

         22  DOI, and it should come to fruition shortly. So, at

         23  the conclusion of the investigation, what I would

         24  like to do is get back to you on it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, fair
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          2  enough.

          3                 In Fiscal Year '98 there were three

          4  escapes. I don't know how anybody can get off of

          5  that island, but have you figured that out?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, we had --

          7  Fiscal '98 we had three.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Three.

          9                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: And I don't think

         10  any of those were off the island. One was from

         11  Lincoln Hospital, one was from Goldwater, and one

         12  was from one of the Court Divisions. All three of

         13  those have been recaptured, they are back in

         14  custody. For Fiscal '99 there were no escapes.

         15                 As you may know, in the last several

         16  months we had three more incidents. Two of those

         17  incidents occurred at the Manhattan House of

         18  Detention. One was an inmate that was able to divert

         19  attention from staff, when he was getting on a bus

         20  with a number of inmates, he got out of the Sally

         21  Court area of the Manhattan Courts, where the

         22  Manhattan Courts are on Baxter Street. He has not

         23  been recaptured.

         24                 The second one that happened in

         25  Manhattan was an inmate that posed as another inmate
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          2  who was being bailed out. A bail was produced, I

          3  think it was $500. They switched identities. They

          4  switched pedigree information, and that inmate was

          5  released in place of the other.

          6                 The third incident was an incident

          7  that occurred within the last month or so at Riker's

          8  Island. This inmate was a trustee, he was working in

          9  the car wash. A warrant -- he was supposed to be

         10  released probably within a week or ten days from the

         11  day he escaped, and a warrant dropped by the

         12  Immigration Service on him. He knew about the

         13  warrant. He positioned himself under a large truck,

         14  and was able to hold on under the truck until it

         15  drove off the island.

         16                 Since that day, we have taken a

         17  number of steps and implemented a number of new

         18  policies to ensure that things like that shouldn't

         19  occur.

         20                 One of which, every worker, every

         21  inmate worker now that is on the island, or anywhere

         22  off of the island that is in New York City custody,

         23  every working inmate will be placed in a bright

         24  orange jumpsuit. Those jumpsuits will be marked with

         25  a florescent marking that says DOC inmate, or DOC
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          2  prisoner.

          3                 Also, we are positioning a camera at

          4  the Gate 2 of Rikers Island. And you have been

          5  there, when you come on and off the island every

          6  vehicle is searched. But there wasn't a search

          7  procedure for underneath the vehicles. Large

          8  vehicles now will go over a small ramp in which

          9  there is a camera which will view the undercarriage

         10  of the vehicle.

         11                 In addition to that, on every DOC

         12  vehicle, large vehicle including buses, there are

         13  new polls with mirrors, one foot by one foot mirrors

         14  on the poles that they can put underneath and

         15  stretch the undercarriage of the vehicle, and every

         16  recorder and every second officer on every vehicle

         17  now has a mandate to do that search.

         18                 So we have taken a number of steps to

         19  ensure that it won't recur.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: That sounds good.

         21                 All right, according to the MMR the

         22  average daily population increased because of a

         23  planned increase in the state where the contract

         24  inmates, specifically the newly sentenced inmates,

         25  the MMR states that pursuant to the agreement with
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          2  the State Department of Corrections, contract

          3  inmates remain at your facilities beyond the ten-day

          4  limit to a maximum of 180 days at a reimbursement of

          5  100 bucks a day; is that correct?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: What is the

          8  financial impact on the Department of Corrections if

          9  there is longer stays, given that the state

         10  reimburses you at the rate of $100 a day for stays

         11  over ten days?

         12                 ACTING FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  FRASER: (Not identified for the record.) Well, the

         14  financial impact is actually a positive one because

         15  the cost of, the incremental cost of housing these

         16  additional inmates is recovered in the $100 a day.

         17                 Previously any inmates held over the

         18  ten days were only reimbursed at the rate of $34 a

         19  day. So, in effect, we are recouping our direct

         20  operating cost of the additional capacity that we

         21  will be operating, in addition to offsetting fixed

         22  costs which we would bear with the closed capacity.

         23                 So, it is actually a positive one. It

         24  is not a situation where we are making money, but we

         25  clearly are recovering costs that would not be
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          2  recovered without those inmates.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let's look at the

          4  average cost per inmate. Fiscal Year '99 the average

          5  cost was 47,000 a year, that is an increase over

          6  last year, which was 44,700.

          7                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And an increase

          9  over Fiscal Year '95, which is like 40,000 or

         10  41,000.

         11                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Per year.

         13                 Can you give us an idea of what

         14  factors cause the cost to go up?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: The primary

         16  reason for the increase is contractual agreements

         17  between the unions. As you know, some of the

         18  contracts were settled a year or two back and some

         19  of those increases, while all of the increases are

         20  now kicking into the salaries of Correction

         21  Officers, Captains, so forth and so on, in those

         22  increases are leading to higher costs across the

         23  board in the agency. And we may see a slight

         24  increase next year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: So you expect an

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  increase in fiscal year 2000?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: As a result of

          4  the same thing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

          6                 Now, the school that you have, your

          7  school program --

          8                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: The numbers of

         10  the individuals enrolled in the program was not

         11  included in the MMR for Fiscal Year '99; any reason

         12  why?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: I think the

         14  enrollment numbers had historically been in the

         15  narrative part of the MMR and this year they had a

         16  new format that excluded that piece of the

         17  narrative. However, I can tell you that enrollment

         18  in educational programs is up. I believe in '98 it

         19  was 47,559 inmates, and in Fiscal '99 it increased

         20  by 9.2 percent, 51,965.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And then some of

         22  the other programs. I know we took a look at the

         23  SAID Program, which served over 11,000 inmates

         24  during Fiscal '99; what is the percentage, or the

         25  population of inmates that are eligible for SAID
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          2  services?

          3                 ACTING FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          4  FRASER: (Not identified for the record.) I believe

          5  about a year ago we sent the Committee a model of

          6  how we determined drug treatment eligibility, and I

          7  can update that for you for Fiscal '99. But

          8  basically we have approximately 127,000 new

          9  admissions a year. Based on the arrestee drug study,

         10  we determined that about 80 percent of those people

         11  have some sort of substance abuse history.

         12  Fifty-four percent of those will be out of our

         13  custody within ten days. And another 50 percent of

         14  those will be disqualified for security or medical

         15  reasons. And then increment are those that will be

         16  out of our capacity beyond 40 days and we look for

         17  the ideal candidate for a drug treatment on Rikers

         18  will be in our custody for more than 40 days to take

         19  advantage of the counseling and the discharge

         20  planning piece.

         21                 Using that sort of model in a quick

         22  way, we came up to about 8,700 inmates that would

         23  benefit, that would be in our custody over 40 days

         24  that would benefit from a drug treatment program.

         25  So, the increment between the 8,700 and the 11,900

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            132

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  are the ones that are in our custody between the

          3  10th and 40th day, and then we have a small

          4  ambulatory program that is funded by Ryan White

          5  grants that is approximately 1,700 of that target.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me ask you

          7  this, because I see possibly duplication between

          8  something you may be doing and something probation

          9  is doing, so let me see if I can clear it up.

         10                 Probation has said, and correct me if

         11  I am wrong, that they test every person at the

         12  pre-sentence? They do. If that is a fact, they get

         13  contact first, correct? For the individual.

         14                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: That is possible.

         15  That is in the court system, it is possible.

         16                 ACTING FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  FRASER: They contact with the prisoner or the inmate

         18  first?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Yes.

         20                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes, they do.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And if they are

         22  doing the tests, are the results of those tests then

         23  transmitted to your Department?

         24                 ACTING FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  FRASER: No, sir, they are not.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: I don't think so.

          3  I don't think so.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Wouldn't that be

          5  a good idea to save money?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It is possible. I

          7  can talk to Commissioner Russi about it, yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Because, you know

          9  if someone is going in for a probation report, he is

         10  taking the test this week, next week he is still on

         11  drugs?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes, absolutely

         13  we will look at it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And this way you

         15  can share that information and then you don't have

         16  to run the drug tests and incur those costs, or

         17  perhaps there could be some sort of sharing there

         18  that would make sense.

         19                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Okay.

         20                 ACTING FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  FRASER: Actually that would be useful information.

         22  We don't actually do a drug test. It is a voluntary

         23  program. They self refer. We make an assumption that

         24  up to 80 percent of those who participate have a

         25  substance abuse history, but they self-refer and
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          2  they volunteer for the program.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: But I think that

          4  under the probation they do it as a matter of

          5  protocol.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: All right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: One more

          8  question.

          9                 The HIIP program, it looks like the

         10  Department is maintaining the same target number for

         11  participants for Fiscal Year 2000, as it had in

         12  Fiscal Year '99. Is there any reason for that?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes, sir. At the

         14  beginning of the last fiscal year we started working

         15  with parole to increase the number of parole

         16  violator referrals into the HIIP program. We had

         17  worked out an estimate with them of receiving about

         18  17 parole violators per week and we expanded the

         19  program to 200 beds in anticipation of that.

         20                 About mid-year the State Division of

         21  Parole Board of Commissioners imposed a higher

         22  security standard on those that are eligible for

         23  HIIP, which decreased the number and we didn't quite

         24  reach the goal that we had anticipated.

         25                 Subsequent to that we worked out a
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          2  deal with them whereby they would identify

          3  candidates within 15 days of incarceration so that

          4  we could get them for 61 days, and that 15-day

          5  period had previously been up over 40. And if it was

          6  over 40 we disqualified them. So if they were going

          7  to cooperate with us and help us get these people

          8  within 15 days, that should offset the number that

          9  we lose due to the higher security classification.

         10  So we anticipate hitting the 800 in fiscal year

         11  2000.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, good.

         13                 The next series of questions are

         14  questions that I have been requested to ask you

         15  regarding the Citywide protocol for E.mail, routing,

         16  tracking and response time.

         17                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Are you aware of

         19  the Citywide protocols?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Absolutely.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Can you describe

         22  it?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: We have a policy

         24  internally as directed by the Office of the Mayor.

         25  All E.mails that come through the system, whether it
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          2  comes through the Office of the Mayor or whether I

          3  get it directly off of our, off of the Citinet,

          4  everything is answered within ten days. Responses,

          5  if it is directed from the Mayor's Office, the

          6  response returns to the Mayor's Office. If it is a

          7  request from the Mayor's to respond to an E.mail on

          8  behalf of the Mayor, that is done, with a copy of

          9  the response going back to the Mayor's Office. And

         10  if it comes through the Citinet to me personally off

         11  of the website, that is also answered within ten

         12  days, and all of them are physically answered in

         13  writing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Do you have a

         15  written departmental policy?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: There is an order

         17  from my office.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. Can you

         19  share it with us?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes, I will.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: So that we can

         22  have it for the record. You said your response is

         23  ten days, and you respond to everything that comes

         24  in?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Everything.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Good.

          3                 Let me say that I am pleased to be

          4  working with you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: You have been

          7  doing a wonderful job. I think Council Member

          8  Michels has shared really my views as to how the

          9  Department is going, and I will just say keep up the

         10  good work.

         11                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 This hearing is adjourned.

         15                 (Hearing concluded at 3:40 p.m.)
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